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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE" AND THE “GEM"” RESPECTIVELY)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of CBK Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Corporate Information

DNEEHR
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Mr. Chan Kwan Yung (resigned on 2 January 2024)
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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Hong Kong
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OFFICE
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Cayman Islands
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Chairman’s Statement

EEEE

OVERVIEW

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of CBK Holdings Limited (the "Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (collectively known as the
"Group”), | hereby present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the "Year” or the
"Reporting Period"”) together with the comparative figures
for the corresponding period in 2023 as set out for their
consideration.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The post-pandemic economic recovery period and the re-
opening of the border, the Group has opened a hotpot with
Japanese food restaurant under the brand “#f A[EZ&" in August
2023 and obtained the financial resources through rights issue
and placing of new shares under general mandate which were
completed on 14 June 2023 and 9 March 2024, respectively,
the management has a vision of obtaining success from the
economic recovery. However, the Group is facing unexpected
challenges after the re-opening of the border, the figures of
the tourists has increased but not together with their spending.
The northbound consumption and the customer preserve its
spending power for their overseas travels has further immense
pressures on the catering industry. After observing the
changing pattern on the consumption preference of the tourists
and local customers, the management has adjusted its strategy
on offering Japanese cuisine to Chinese style cuisine. The
management has an agenda and is organizing all the necessary
resources for opening a new restaurant in Causeway Bay which
offers Chinese Style in August 2024.

Further, as the northbound consumption is an irreversible trend
while the lowering of operating cost of operating restaurant in
Hong Kong is facing bottleneck, the management will redesign
its business model to adapt the business environment. The
management will proactively looking for opportunities in the
mainland China to cope with the northbound consumption.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEEE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincerest
gratitude to our valued customers, business partners, and
Shareholders for their persistent support, also expressing my
appreciation to the management team and employees for their
valuable contribution to the development of the Group.

Chow Yik
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 July 2024
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Financial Highlights

MERE
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS P
2024 2023
20245 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Revenue &= 25,365 30,040
Loss for the year FEEE (19,393) (24,975)
Loss for the year attributable to owners KATIHRE ANELFEEBE
of the Company (24,595) (22,227)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMBEE 8,237 11,553
Current assets MENEE 12,354 9,806
Total assets EEHAR 20,591 21,359
Equity and liabilities EalkBaE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 Rl A A JE{h s 7,882 3,596
Non-controlling interests FEERR (130) (5,887)
Total equity (deficits) R (B4 A 7,752 (2,291)
Non-current liabilities EmBBEE 860 3,408
Current liabilities MENBE 11,979 20,242
Total liabilities BEHE 12,839 23,650
Total equity and liabilities ERhEBEAE 20,591 21,359
Net current assets (liabilities) RBEE(BE)FE 375 (10,43¢)
Net assets (liabilities) EE(BB)FE 7,752 (2,291)

8 CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

During the last financial year, the outbreak of the fifth wave of
Novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") since January 2022
and stabilised around February 2023 severely affected the
catering industry. Facing this environment, the Group had
closed or terminated some operations for cutting the losses
and implemented cost-saving including negotiating with our
landlords for rent concessions measures.

Although the COVID-19 was stabilised and reopening of the
border around February 2023, there is severe and unexpected
challenge facing by the Group due to northbound consumption
and weak consumer spending in Hong Kong. Facing this
environment, the Company did not exercise the option under
the existing tenancy agreement of our Korean restaurant under
the brand “Aidan Cafe” at Tai Wai due to the option rental
price higher than the existing rental price which resulted to the
higher break-even point on Korean restaurant. Based on cost
and benefits, the management ceased operation of “Aidan
Cafe” for reinstatement and returned the premise to the
landlord during third quarter of 2023.

On July 2023, the Board evaluated the uncertainties caused
by the Government of Japan'’s plan to discharge the nuclear
contaminated water generated in the process of cooling the
reactors at the Fukushima nuclear power station into the ocean
toward the operation of our central restaurant under the brand
“Shio” (“"Central Restaurant”) (The treatment of discharging the
nuclear water by the Government of Japan was announced on
24 August 2023). In order to remove the negative impact, the
management has licensed the operation to an independent
third party for securing a minimum profit each month starting
from 1 August 2023 and disposed its non-wholly owned
subsidiary which operated the Central Restaurant in February
2024. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 12 January 2024 and the announcements of the Company
dated 16 November 2023 and 31 January 2024, and Note 34(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

On 28 March 2024, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interests in Smart Sino Enterprises Limited (“Smart Sino”), an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary, which mainly owns interest
in the Group's joint venture, Jintian, to an independent third
party at a cash consideration of HK$100,000. Jintian principally
engaged in manufacture and sales of frozen aquatic products
in the PRC. Smart Sino Group was disposed after the Directors’
careful evaluation of the cost of resources spent and the return
obtained from Jintian. For details, please refer to Note 34(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

Whereas, the Group still strive to take proactive approach
to rejuvenate its respective business and actively solicit any
opportunities on expansion of our catering service business.
After obtaining financial resources from rights issue completed
on 14 June 2023 ("Rights Issue”) and placing of new shares
under general mandate completed on 19 March 2024
("Placing”), the Company has opened a hotpot with Japanese
food restaurant under the brand “# AEZ&" located in
Whampoa in August 2023 (“Whampoa Restaurant”) and entered
an provisional tenancy agreement to open a restaurant offering
Chinese style cuisine in Causeway Bay. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 29 April 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had operated a Korean
BBQ and hotpot restaurant under the brand "—&&&" at San
Po Kong, the Whampoa Restaurant and a food processing
operation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 decreased by
approximately HK$4.6 million to approximately HK$25.4 million
(2023: approximately HK$30.0 million). The decrease in revenue
this financial year was mainly due to the Group outsourced and
disposed the Central Restaurant in August 2023 and February
2024 respectively.

Cost of inventories sold

Our cost of inventories sold for the year ended 31 March 2024
decreased by approximately HK$1.7 million to approximately
HK$11.3 million (2023: approximately HK$13.0 million) which is
in line with decrease in revenue.

The cost of inventories sold as a percentage of revenue

increased by approximately 1.5% to 44.7% for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: approximately 43.2%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 decreased by
approximately HK$3.1 million to approximately HK$14.0 million
(2023: approximately HK$17.1 million) which is mainly due to
decrease in revenue.

The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2024
decreased by approximately 1.5% to approximately 55.3% (2023:
approximately 56.8%) which is mainly due to decrease in gross
profit margin of sales and processing of food operation in this
financial year to approximately 15.9% (2023: approximately
21.0%).

Other revenue, other gain and loss

Our other revenue, other gain and loss decreased by
approximately HK$0.7 million to approximately HK$1.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$1.9
million) is due to no government subsidies in this financial year.

Employee benefit expenses

Our employee benefit expenses for the year ended 31
March 2024 decreased by approximately HK$1.4 million to
approximately HK$11.7 million (2023: approximately HK$13.1
million) which is mainly due to decrease in number of
restaurants.

Depreciation

Our depreciation for the year ended 31 March 2024 slightly
decreased by approximately HK$0.2 million to approximately
HK$9.3 million (2023: approximately HK$9.5 million).

Property rentals and related expenses

Our property rentals and related expenses slightly increased by
approximately HK$0.5 million to approximately HK$1.5 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$1.0
million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

Fuel and utility expenses

Qur fuel and utility expenses slightly decreased by
approximately HK$0.3 million to approximately HK$0.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$1.2
million).

Administrative and other operating expenses

Our administrative and other operating expenses decreased by
approximately HK$6.0 million to approximately HK$8.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$14.9
million) was resulted to the licensing of Central Restaurant’s
operation to an independent third party and closure of Aidan
Cafe in the third quarter of 2023, and also the disposal of the
Central Restaurant in the first quarter of 2024.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of property,
plant and equipment/right-of-use assets

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded an
impairment loss in respect of property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million (2023: approximately
HK$2.1 million) and an impairment loss in respect of right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$0.8 million (2023: approximately
HK$0.9 million) after the impairment assessment based on
valuation reports prepared by an independent professional
valuer on value in use based on the estimated future cash flows

discounted to its present value using a pre-tax discount rate of
13.39% (2023: 15.03%).

Loss for the year attributable to owners of our
Company

As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, the
Group had loss for the year attributable to owners of our
Company of approximately HK$24.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$22.2 million).

RESULTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group's total assets as at 31 March 2024 decreased by
approximately HK$0.8 million to approximately HK$20.6 million
(2023: approximately HK$21.4 million) which is mainly due to
derecognition of certain property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets through disposal of the Central Restaurant,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets, and impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

The Group's total liabilities as at 31 March 2024 decreased by
approximately HK$10.9 million to approximately HK$12.8 million
(2023: approximately HK$23.7 million) which is mainly due to
repayment of interest-bearing borrowings of HK$5.0 million
raised in last financial year and decrease in non-current lease
liabilities of HK$2.6 million.

The equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31
March 2024 increased by approximately HK$4.3 million to
approximately HK$7.9 million (2023: approximately HK$3.6
million) is mainly due to improvement of financial position after
total 77,757,995 rights shares issued at HK$0.265 each in June
2023 and total 18,661,918 placing shares placed at HK$0.55
each in March 2024.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, most of the transactions
of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
Group is not exposed to significant foreign exchange exposure.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$4.2 million. For details, please refer to Note
35 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The capital of the Group comprised only ordinary shares. The
Company changed the board lot size of its shares for trading
on the Stock Exchange from 2,000 shares to 10,000 shares with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 15 June 2023. The Company also held
an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM”) and passed the
resolutions to implement rights issue on the basis of five (5)
rights shares for every one (1) share held and at the subscription
price of HK$0.265 per rights share. On 14 June 2023, 77,757,995
rights shares were issued with net proceeds of approximately
HK$18.9 million. For details, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated é March 2023, 3 May 2023, 5 June 2023
and 13 June 2023, the circular of the Company dated 14 April
2023 and the prospectus of the Company dated 17 May 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

On 19 March 2024, the Company has placed a total of
18,661,918 placing shares (the “Placing”). For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 21 February
2024, 8 March 2024, 19 March 2024, 20 March 2024 and 21
March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's borrowings comprised lease
liabilities of approximately HK$4.6 million (2023: approximately
HK$7.3 million) only and there is no interest-bearing borrowings
(2023: HK$5.0 million). The Group's gearing ratio, calculated
by dividing total borrowings by total equity, was 59.0% in this
financial year (2023: Not applicable).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any mortgage or
charge over its assets (2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

On 16 November 2023, the Group entered into the share
transfer agreement with an independent third party to sell its
non-wholly owned subsidiary which operated Central Restaurant
(the “Major Disposal”). The Major Disposal was constituted
as a major transaction under Chapter 19 of Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) and
approved, confirmed and ratified on extraordinary general
meeting held on 31 January 2024. For details, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 12 January 2024 and the
announcements of the Company dated 16 November 2023 and
31 January 2024, and Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Except for the disclosure above, the Group did not have other
significant investments, material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies for the year ended 31
March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 April 2024, the Group as lessee and an independent third
party as lessor entered into a provisional tenancy agreement
in respect of the lease of Causeway Bay site for a term of three
years from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027 with an option to renew
for a further three years (the “Lease”). The aggregate amount
payable under the Lease is approximately HK$5.0 million
(exclusive of air-conditioning charges, management fee and
government rates). The transaction constitutes a disclosable
transaction under the GEM Listing Rules. Details of which are
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 29 April
2024 and 9 May 2024, and Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Yik (“Mr. Chow"), aged 43, retired as the Chairman
on 3 May 2024 and succeeded as Chairman on 10 July 2024.
He continues to serve as an executive director, the chairman of
each of the legal compliance committee and the nomination
committee and the member of remuneration committee.
Mr. Chow obtained a bachelor’s degree in Engineering,
majoring in Electronic and Communication Engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong and the Master of Business
Administration programme ("EMBA") at the School of
Economics and Management of Tsinghua University.

From April 2015 to October 2020, Mr. Chow was an executive
director of Kirin Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8109),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, which
principally engaged in the provision of insurance brokerage and
related services, assets management and securities brokerage
service and money lending services in Hong Kong and
multichannel network entertainment services.

During April 2020 to May 2021, Mr. Chow was an executive
director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code:
8148), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
which principally engaged in developing and marketing
of patented server based technology and the provision of
communications software platform and software related
services; money lending business; and game publishing,
development of mobile game and related intellectual property
and platform, mobile applications and data solutions and
provision of IT related solutions.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREERE

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (“Mr. Tsui"), aged 55, was appointed as
an executive director. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified
Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in Economics from Macquarie University in Australia. He
has over 27 years of extensive experience in corporate finance
and accounting.

From April 2020 to December 2020, Mr. Tsui was an executive
director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code:
8148), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
which principally engaged in developing and marketing
of patented server based technology and the provision of
communications software platform and software related
services; money lending business; and game publishing,
development of mobile game and related intellectual property
and platform, mobile applications and data solutions and
provision of IT related solutions. In August 2020, Mr. Tsui was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Bingo
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8220), a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, which principally engaged
in movie production, licensing and derivatives, crossover
marketing and provision of interactive contents and cinema
investment and management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tian Wuchun (“Mr. Tian"), aged 47, has over 18 years
of experience in management, finance and investment.
He currently serves as the legal representative of Da Qian
(Shenzhen) Education Group Limited* and Dagian (Shenzhen)
Investment Group Limited*. Mr. Tian graduated from Jiangxi
Normal University with a major in Geography Education and is a
Fellow Chartered Financial Practitioner.

* English name is for identification purpose only
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREERE

Ms. Lau Man Kei (“Ms. Lau"”), aged 35, possesses over 11 years
of accounting and audit experiences in Hong Kong. Currently,
she is a director of CAN (HK) CPA Limited. From December
2016 to August 2020, she was the assistant financial controller
of Kirin Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8109). From March 2011 to
November 2016, she was senior auditor of SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited.

Ms. Lau is a qualified member of both The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. She obtained a Bachelor of
Arts in Accounting from Edinburgh Napier University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Lap Ping, aged 56, is a management of subsidiaries
of the Company. He joined the Group as general manager in
January 2004. He is primarily responsible for supervising the
day-to-day operations of our restaurants. He has over 20 years
of experience in restaurant operations in Hong Kong, of which
he worked as a manager of various restaurants responsible for
managing day-to-day operation of restaurants.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREERE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. Alex Chan"), aged 58, is
the company secretary. He has over 18 years of experience
in managing companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas. He
obtained his bachelor of business administration (honours)
degree in finance from the Hong Kong Baptist University in
1990, and an advance diploma in specialist taxation from the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2012.
Mr. Alex Chan is currently a fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute, a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Since September 2015, Mr. Alex
Chan has been an independent non-executive director of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 8125),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He has
also been an independent non-executive director of Kingkey
Intelligence Culture Holdings Limited (stock code: 550), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since
March 2016.

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors and senior
management has not held directorships in the last three years in
other public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

BUSINESS ADDRESS OF THE DIRECTORS

The business address of the Directors is same as the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 726, 7/F.,
Kapok Industrial Building, 373 To Kwa Wan road, Kowloon.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

INTRODUCTION

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") under Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code except for the following
deviation from the code provisions:

Code Provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The post of the chief executive of the
Company has remained vacant since 23 November 2020 and
as at the date of this report. The duties of chief executive have
been performed by other executive Directors. As there is a clear
division of responsibilities of each Director, the vacancy of the
post of chief executive did not have any material impact on the
operations of the Group. Nevertheless, the Board will review
the current structure from time to time and if a candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience is identified, the Board
will make an appointment to fill the post of chief executive as
appropriate.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance appropriate to the conduct and growth of its
business and to review its corporate governance from time to
time to ensure they comply with the statutory and the CG Code
and align with the latest developments.

20 CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

55

EECOHEMNSEECE - ERETGEM
TR AIKT SR ISETE M EE R SFAI([ 1
FERTE) B SFRNES « BLZE 202443
A3TBLFE ARARBETEEERST
Al 2 SPRIMEST - MR SR i R B =T BINE XX
BRI

FRMERICEEC.2.11%
TFAMENEC21GHTE » TR RITHAR
HMACETHIR  TEHR - ALTE
T - B2020F 11 A23B AR R EE AfsE
HE » RRABTTHRBHNBL—HZ
TREHNBECHEMARITESRET
MRS ESHPRBED T RITHER
BT H) 2o RS AN SR B Y8 8 I M EE AR R
BEATE - BEWN  EFEBETRRER
BRIAZEHE - MBI EBEENE - K
BEREBRNEREAN  EFEHRBELE
£ - DABHTTBUREAIERAL -

ARRBEERTEEREAERIARLS
HEBHLEMER - me TR
XER BRESREAERNTAIENR
EEEATRINBE - B ABR TR
R



Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board's primary responsibilities are to oversee the
management of the Group, to formulate the Group's long-term
corporate strategy including the formulation and approval of all
policy matters, internal control and risk management systems,
to evaluate the performance of the Group and to assess the
achievement of targets periodically set by the Board.

In addition, the Board has also established Board Committees
and has delegated to these Board Committees various
responsibilities set out in their terms of reference respectively.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies
and management of the Group’s businesses to the
executive directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, there are two executive
directors, namely Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman), and Mr. Tsui Wing
Tak and two independent non-executive directors (“INEDs"),
namely Mr. Tian Wuchun, and Ms. Lau Man Kei.

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and
financial expertise and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving
on various Board committees, all INEDs will make various
contributions to the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has at all
times met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one
of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise
as required under the GEM Listing Rules except for disclosure
above.

Upon the resignation of Mr. Zhang Yuhao on 10 July 2024, the
Company, having only two INEDs, is not in compliance with (i)
Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that the
Board must include at least three independent non-executive
Directors; and (ii) Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules, which
stipulates that the Audit Committee must comprise a minimum
of three members. The Board will appoint appropriate persons
to fill the vacancies as soon as possible within three months
from 10 July 2024, pursuant to Rule 5.06 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

In compliance with Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules which
took effect on 31 December 2023, (i) Mr. Zheng Haoze, who
was appointed as a Director on 23 January 2024, obtained the
legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D (the "“Legal Advice”) on
23 January 2024, and he confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a Director; and (ii) Mr. Tian Wuchun, who was
appointed as a Director on 3 May 2024 obtained the Legal
Advice on 3 May 2024, and he confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a Director.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation,
the Company considers that all the INEDs are independent and
have met the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules up to the date of this annual report.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against
the Directors’ liability has been arranged by the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERBE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the date of
this corporate governance report. A summary of this Board
Diversity Policy, together with the measurable objectives set
for implementing this Board Diversity Policy, and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as
follows.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage. In reviewing and assessing the Board's composition,
the Board will consider a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry and
regional experience.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval. The Nomination Committee
will from time to time review the Board Diversity Policy as
appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy in the year
ended 31 March 2024.

INEDs

The current INEDs are Mr. Tian Wuchun and Ms. Lau Man Kei.
The INEDs help the management to formulate the Group's
development strategies, ensure the Board prepares its financial
and other mandatory reports in strict compliance with required
standards, and ensure the Company maintains appropriate
system to protect the interests of the Company and the
shareholders. The Company received the annual confirmation
from the INEDs in respect of their independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considered
all the INEDs to be independent.
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CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

According to the Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company would arrange and/or introduce
some training for the Directors to develop and explore their
knowledge and skills.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on the Directors’ training.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development and the
relevant details are set out below:

HEEXER
RIBEEERT AR ST RHRSCRAL5% -
FREZFSNFEFTERR  UBER
SRR E 2 A S 3T R FEAB
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Ol - B Ne IR E AN o

EEMRECHESNEIETEEER
SFRIBSFRNESTEA6.516 o REIE 20244
3AZNBLEFE  2REZFCL2HBER
EBE - BEFBIENTX

Directors Reading materials
= B A1
Executive directors BITEF
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) B EE(FE) 4
Mr. Yue Dinglong ERBESE v
(appointed as INED on 1 December (R2023%F 1271 HEZ (FRRE 7 IFH
2023, redesignated as Chairman and ~ 77Z%F - )R2024F5H3HBFRFE
executive director on 3 May 2024 and ~ R#77E F R RK2024F 7 H 10H 5FF)
resigned on 10 July 2024)
Mr. He Zhiwei EEEE 4
(appointed on 1 December 2023 and ~ (R2023%F 121 HEZ (T IR
resigned on 3 May 2024) 202445 A 3H g 1F)
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak TRKIGHRE 4
Mr. Zheng Haoze EEERE 4
(appointed on 23 January 2024 and (R20244F 1 A23 HEZ (Fir R
resigned on 4 March 2024) 20249F3 H4HEFT)
Independent non-executive directors B B TEE
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung PR#EBEEE 4
(resigned on 2 January 2024) (RO0244F 1 H2H BFT)
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam HRELEE 4
(resigned on 6 November 2023) (R20234F 11 56 HEFEE)
Ms. Lau Man Kei ZIgH 2+ v
Mr. Zhang Yuhao RIS ITE 4
(appointed on 6 November 2023 and ~ (IR2023%F 1156 HEZ (L%
resigned on 10 July 2024) R202447 5 104 &)
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed with
the Directors in advance. In addition to the above, notice of at
least 14 days is given for a regular Board meeting. For other
Board meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is usually sent to all
Directors together with the notice in order to give them an
opportunity to include any other matters in the agenda for
discussion in the meeting.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting to provide them with materials
relating to the transactions to be discussed in the meeting in
order to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the senior management whenever necessary.

The Chairman, other Directors and other relevant senior
management normally attend regular Board meetings and,
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings to
advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other
major aspects of the Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all
Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interest for substantial shareholders
or a director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at
a duly convened Board meeting. The M&A contains provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted
in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, eight Board meetings, # ZE2024F3A831HILFE » 877 /\UKX
i

one annual general meeting and two extraordinary meetings BE2&:#% « —ARERF RS MR
were held. The attendance record of each Director at the HHRIAE - REENEHHFECEEN

meetings is set out in the table below: T
Annual General Extraordinary
Board Meeting Meeting  General Meeting
Name of Directors Attended/Held  Attended/Held  Attended/Held
LEESEEE HERRBFAE HERRBHAS
Esps RE/BARE R/ BORE KRB BIRE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) EREE(£E) 7/8 11 2/2
Mr. Yue Dinglong ERERE 1/8 0/1 12
(appointed as INED on 1 December  (RR2023F 1251 HEZ T4
2023, redesignated as Chairman and ~ BUHHTEE + K024%F5
executive director on 3May 2024 and  F3HFFAFERHTTEE
resigned on 10 July 2024) RIK2024F7 B 10A5HF)
Mr. He Zhiwei mEELE 1/8 0/1 12
(appointed on 1 December 2023 and (3202341251 HEZ Tk
resigned on 3 May 2024) FR20245 5 3HFHF)
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak BKEEE 8/8 11 2/2
Mr. Zheng Haoze BEELE 0/8 0/1 12
(appointed on 23 January 2024 and  (FR20244F 1 H23HEZ (10
resigned on 4 March 2024) R2024%3 54 AF#F)
Independent non-executive directors B HHTEE
Ms. Lau Man Kei Ell 8/8 171 2/2
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung ES2Epites 7/8 11 172
(resigned on 2 January 2024) (R2024% 1 H2H§HE)
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam HAERAE 5/8 0/1 172
(resigned on 6 November 2023) (R2023%F11 H6HFHE)
Mr. Zhang Yuhao BRI 3/8 0/1 172
(appointed on 6 November 2023 and  (R2023% 11 H6 HEZ (TR
resigned on 10 July 2024) R2024%7 A 10A#HF)
BOARD COMMITTEES EXZET

The Board has established four Board committees, namely BEFepoKvINEEEZES  AIEKRE
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the E& - HMEE S - BEELEZEES N EES
nomination committee and the legal compliance committee to (#Z B8 € @ LERAQN G TREEAMNE
oversee particular aspects of the Company's affair. The Board 5 - ZEZE e AR A RIABITER
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

o
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee has been established with its terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and paragraphs C.3.3 and C.3.7 of the CG
Code. As at date of this annual report, the audit committee
consists of two members, namely Ms. Lau Man Kei and Mr.
Tian Wuchun and all being INEDs. Ms. Lau Man Kei currently
serves as the chairman of the audit committee. The committee
is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial reporting,
by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the internal
controls of our Group, and as to the adequacy of the external
and internal audits.

With reference to the terms of reference, the primary
responsibilities of the audit committee, among others, are as
follow:

(@) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditors, and to approve and
review the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services;

(d) to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the
annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them;

(e) to discuss the internal control system with management of
our Group to ensure that the management of our Group
has performed its duty to have an effective internal control
system; and
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() to develop and review our Group's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board and monitor our Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The members of the audit committee should meet at least
twice a year. During the year ended 31 March 2024, four audit
committee meetings were held to review the Group's annual
results and annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023,
first quarterly results for the three months ended 30 June 2023
and interim results for the six months ended 30 September
2023, discussing the effectiveness of the corporate governance,
internal control, risk management, audit-related and financial
reporting matters, the nature and scope of audit and reporting
obligations before the audit commences and the remuneration
of the auditors. Our Group's consolidated financial statements
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 have been reviewed
by the audit committee. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the audit committee regarding the selection and
appointment of the external auditors during the year ended
31 March 2024. The audit committee has recommended to the
Board that Forvis Mazars CPA Limited (formerly known as Mazars
CPA Limited) (“Forvis Mazars") be nominated for re-appointment
as the Company'’s auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The attendance record of each Director at the audit committee
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meeting is set out in the table below: *:
Audit Committee
Meeting
Name of Director Attended/Held
HEEBRZEERER
EEHH RBBITIRE
Ms. Lau Man Kei (Chairman) gL (FE) 4/4
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam (Chairman) HRERE(EE) 3/4
(resigned on 6 November 2023) (R20234%F 11 56 HEFFHE)
Mr. Zhang Yuhao RIBRITE 174
(appointed on 6 November 2023 and (2023 1156 HEZ TR
resigned on 10 July 2024) 202447 A 10H §FHT)
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung PR#EBE L 4/4
(resigned on 2 January 2024) (Ro0244F 1 H2H BFIE)
Mr. Yue Dinglong ERBESE 0/4

(appointed on 1 December 2023 and
retired on 3 May 2024)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee has been established with its terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1.2 of the CG
Code. As at the date of this annual report, the remuneration
committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Chow Yik,
being the executive director, and Mr. Tian Wuchun and Ms. Lau
Man Kei, being the INEDs. Ms. Lau Man Kei currently serves as
the chairman of the remuneration committee.

The remuneration committee is obliged to report to the Board
on its decisions or recommendations. With reference to the
terms of reference of remuneration committee, the primary
duties, among others, are as follow:

(@) to formulate remuneration policy for the approval of the
Board;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board on our
Group's policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(c) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives;
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(d) to determine, with delegated responsibility or make

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management of our Group;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management of our Group for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that
it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct
to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

to consider the performance bonus for executive directors,
senior management and general staff, having regard to
their achievements against the performance criteria and by
reference to market norms, and make recommendations
to the Board.

The members of the remuneration committee should meet at

least once a year. During the year ended 31 March 2024, three

remuneration committee meetings were held to review and

make recommendations on the remuneration package of the

directors and senior management.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the
section headed “Senior Management Remuneration” of this

annual report.
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The attendance record of each Director at the remuneration
committee meeting is set out in the table below:

BEESNITMNLZEgSRLFELHEHANT
=

Remuneration
Committee Meeting

Name of Director Attended/Held
HEFHESSSR
EEpE B BITRE
Ms. Lau Man Kei (Chairman) BIGEEL T (£E) 3/3
Mr. Chow Yik RS E 3/3
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam HRELE 2/3
(resigned on 6 November 2023) (R2023%F 11 A6 A BHT)
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung PR#EBESE 3/3
(resigned on 2 January 2024) (R20244F 1 A2 H B (F)
Mr. Zhang Yuhao R RIEAE 1/3
(appointed on 6 November 2023 and ~ (R20234F 11 A6 HEZ (T )
resigned on 10 July 2024) R20244F7 F10H BET)
Mr. Yue Dinglong ERBESE 0/3

(appointed on 1 December 2023 and
resigned on 10 July 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee has been established with its terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG Code.
As at the date of this annual report, the nomination committee
of our Group consists of three members, namely Mr. Chow Yik,
being the executive director, and Mr. Tian Wuchun and Ms. Lau
Man Kei, being the INEDs. Mr. Chow Yik currently serves as the
chairman of the nomination committee.

The nomination committee is obliged to report to the Board on
its decisions or recommendations. With reference to the terms
of reference of nomination committee, the primary duties,
among others, are as follow:

(@) to formulate nomination policy for the Board's
consideration and implement the Board's approved
nomination policy;

(FR2023%F 1281 HEZ (L)
R20244F7 F 10 H BFT)

REEES
ARABEKMIRZZE@WEREEER
STRIEAS 2B R TERT L BERE - 1
AEFAHY  AEERZEZESH=ZHX
4K - AITESFPEEANIEIIF
WITEFABEFRERBIGH L - A
EAEBRREIREZESTE -

REZESAEERERARIEZRNES
SESH - 2R LB BESE - &
I2BBEAEPEE)IATRIE

() HITRERFLEEEEE - BN
EERDHANIELRE

BRI IR A T /2024 HEAE R 31



Corporate Governance Report

AN F- 2N
TEERRE
(b) to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement our Group's
corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Boar d and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

to receive nominations from shareholders or Directors
when such are tendered and to make recommendations
to the Board on the candidacy of the nominees, having
regard to the Board’s compositional requirements and
suitability of the nominees;

to assess the independence of INEDs and review the
INEDs' confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman of the Board; and

regularly review the contribution required from a Director
to perform his/her responsibilities to our Group, and
whether he/she is spending sufficient time performing
them.

The members of the nomination committee should meet at

least once a year. During the year ended 31 March 2024, three

nomination committee meetings were held to review and assess

(i) the structure, size and composition (including the skills,

knowledge and experience) of the Board, (i) the independence

of INEDs, and (iii) the performance of the directors. The

nomination committee had also made recommendations to the

Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and

succession planning for Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director at the nomination &&EZ=RERZEeeEHFELEIFTNT
committee meeting is set out in the table below: =
Nomination
Committee Meeting
Name of Director Attended/Held
HEREZESSR
EspnE REBITIRE
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung (Chairman) PRIGB L& (E/E) 3/3
(resigned on 2 January 2024) (R20244F 1 A2 HEF(F)
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) B (FE) 3/3
Ms. Lau Man Kei 22+ 3/3
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam HARELRAE 2/3
(resigned on 6 November 2023) (R20234F 11 56 H BFE)
Mr. Zhang Yuhao R RIEAE 1/3
(appointed on 6 November 2023 and ~ (R20234F 11 A6 HEZ (T )
resigned on 10 July 2024) R20244F7 F10H BET)
Mr. Yue Dinglong ERBESE 0/3

(appointed on 1 December 2023 and
resigned on 10 July 2024)

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

A legal compliance committee has been established for the
purpose of assisting in overseeing compliance with laws and
regulations relevant to our operations as well as the adequacy
and effectiveness of regulatory compliance procedures
and system. As at the date of this annual report, the legal
compliance committee comprises of three members, namely
Mr. Chow Yik, being the executive director, and Mr. Tian
Wuchun and Ms. Lau Man Kei, being the INEDs. Mr. Chow
Yik currently serves as the chairman of the legal compliance
committee.

With reference to the terms of reference, the primary
responsibilities of the legal compliance committee, among
others, are as follow:

(@) to review the effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory
compliance procedures and system, including operational
and compliance procedures and risk management
functions;

(FR2023%F 1281 HEZ (L)
R20244F7 F 10 H BFT)
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(b) to assess and review the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, and training programmes in
relation to the Group's regulatory compliance functions;

() to assist the audit committee of the Company in
overseeing the Group's corporate governance functions,
which includes (i) developing and reviewing the policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the audit committee on a quarterly
basis; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; and (iv) reviewing the
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set
out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be included in the annual report of
the Company;

(d) to receive and handle any actual or suspected non-
compliance matters reported by the employees of the
Group and engage external professional advisers to
assist in the preparation of reports and recommendations
in respect of such actual or suspected non-compliance
matters; and

(e) to review the effectiveness of the Group’s ongoing
measures to prevent future noncompliance incidents
and provide updates on the applicable laws related to
the Group's business operations with the assistance of
external professional parties including legal advisers as to
Hong Kong law, compliance adviser, and internal control
consultant from time to time.

The members of the legal compliance committee should meet
at least once a year. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
one legal compliance committee meeting was held to review
and assess (i) the compliance policies of the Company against
the applicable laws and regulations and (ii) the training and
continuing professional development of the directors and
senior management.
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The attendance record of each Director at the legal compliance
committee meeting is set out in the table below:

SHEENEEAREESRHELERER
R :

Legal Compliance
Committee Meeting

Name of Director Attended/Held
HELEZaREER
EEpE SRREBITRE
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) B (F/E) 11
Ms. Lau Man Kei Bl + 171
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung (Chairman) PREGBIE(EE) /1
(resigned on 2 January 2024) (R20244 1 A2 H & 1F)
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam HRELEE A
(resigned on 6 November 2023) (R2023%F 11 6 HE#IT)
Mr. Zhang Yuhao R RIEAE 0N
(appointed on 6 November 2023 and ~ (R20234F 11 A6 HEZ (T )
resigned on 10 July 2024) B20244F7 5 10H BFHE)
Mr. Yue Dinglong ERBESE 0/1

(appointed on 1 December 2023 and
resigned on 10 July 2024)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group's independent external auditor is Forvis Mazars. The
remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
Forvis Mazars to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately as follows:

(FR2023%F 1281 HEZ (L)
R20244F7 F 10 H BFT)

ZEETEN
NEBRB U INEZEMM AT EIHE - 5t
EEIEENEE2024F3A31H IFFEEM
N2 B AR A9 4% B N FEAZ EAR 7% A 48E 49 B
e/ BN

Amount

&5

Type of Services (HK$'000)
PR 38 B (F#&x)
Audit services ZE RS 760
Non-audit services (Note) FERZ RS (M E) 170
Total st 930

Note: fizE -

The non-audit services were rendered in respect of the agreed-upon procedures
regarding adjustments to the exercise price of share options and the number
of shares to be issued upon the exercise of the outstanding share options,
non-audit services for major disposal of a subsidiary of the Company,
attendance of the annual general meeting of the Company and agreed-upon
procedures on preliminary announcement of annual results.

IERERT T A R R BN T EERITER R
TTEBIR RSB ITH AR BB WIBERF - AR
Al—HENEBARMNEANLESENIERERE - LE
ARBIBEAFRGBERRNFFEEERSOWE
PR -
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control and risk management systems.
Such internal control and risk management systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control and risk management systems
during the year ended 31 March 2024 which covered financial,
operational, compliance, procedural and risk management
functions and had considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company'’s accounting and financial reporting function.
In light of the size and scale of the Group's business, the Group
does not have an internal audit function as the Board has
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group. The
Board will review and consider to establish such department as
and when it thinks necessary.

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to
conduct independent internal control review for the year ended
31 March 2024 and the review is completed as at the date of
this annual report.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices
are very important for maintaining and promoting investor
confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group has therefore made continued efforts to uplift its quality
of corporate governance. It has established a highly effective
system of internal controls and adopted a series of measures
to ensure its safety and effectiveness. As a result, the Group
is able to safeguard its assets and protect the interests of its
shareholders.

The Board is of the view that the systems of internal control and
risk management are effective and there are no irregularities,
improprieties, fraud or other deficiencies that suggest material
deficiency in the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility
for preparing the consolidated financial statements and
ensuring that the consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, profitability and cash flows of the Group for that
period in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors have adopted
appropriate and consistent accounting policies and made
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimations. The
Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of
affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the
Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group is
in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex is the company secretary of the
Company. The biographical details of him is set out in the
section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report. In accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'’
RIGHTS

The Company uses a number of channels to communicate
to shareholders and investors on the performance of the
Company, including (i) the publication of interim and annual
reports; (ii) the AGM or extraordinary general meeting
which provide a forum for shareholders of the Company to
raise comments and exchange views with the Board; (iii) key
information on the Group is available on the website of the
Company; and (iv) the Company'’s share registrars in Hong Kong
serve the shareholders on all share registration matters. The
Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standard of disclosure and financial transparency.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM for which at
least 21 days' notice is given. The chairperson of the Board or
other Directors are available to answer shareholders’ questions
on the Group's business at the meetings. All shareholders have
statutory rights to call for extraordinary general meetings and to
put forward an agenda for consideration.

According to Article 58 of the Second Amended and Restated
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Second Articles of
Association”), one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company, have the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Second Articles of
Association. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting following
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.
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If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she
shall deposit a written notice (the "Written Notice"”) to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room
726, 7/F., Kapok Industrial Building, 373 To Kwa Wan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Written Notice (i) must include the
personal information of the Candidate as required by Rule
17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (i) must be signed by the
Shareholder concerned and signed by the Candidate indicating
his/her willingness to be elected and consent of the publication
of his/her personal information. The period for lodgment of the
Written Notice shall commence on the day after the despatch
of the notice of general meeting and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

In order to ensure the shareholders have sufficient time to
receive and consider the proposal of election of the Candidate
as a Director without adjourning the general meeting,
shareholders are urged to submit and lodge the Written Notice
as early as practicable preferably at least 15 business days prior
to the date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

Shareholders may send written enquiries by post, together with
his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax,
addressing to the Board at the head office of the Company at
the following address:

CBK Holdings Limited

Room 726, 7/F., Kapok Industrial Building,
373 To Kwa Wan road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Attention: Board of Directors
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that aims to
enhance the shareholders’ value. The Company’s ability
to pay dividends will depend on, among others, our result
of operations, cash flows and financial condition, general
business conditions and strategies, our operating and capital
requirements, the amount of distributable profits based on
the generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong
and other factors which the Board deems relevant and having
regard to the director’s fiduciary duties.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Board
obtained the approval of the Shareholders at the rescheduled
annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 September
2023 to amend and restate the then existing articles of
association of the Company for the purpose of, among other
things, (i) bringing the existing memorandum and articles of
association up-to-date and in line with the core shareholder
protection standards as set out in Appendix 3 of the GEM
Listing Rules; (ii) compliance to new requirements under
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of
GEM Listing Rules; (iii) providing flexibility to the Company in
relation to the holding of hybrid and electronic meetings; and (iv)
reflecting certain updates in relation to the applicable laws of
Cayman Islands and making other housekeeping amendments.
The amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company is available for viewing on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other amendment made

to the constitutional documents of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, the Company confirms that the Directors have
complied with such required standard of dealings and the
Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions from the date of Listing and up to the date of this
report.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together

with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For business review of the Group for the year, please refer to

“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and

Analysis” sections.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group believes that there are certain risk and uncertainties

involved in its operations, some of which are beyond our

Group’s control. Our Group has categorised these risks and

uncertainties into: (i) risks relating to our business; and (ii)

risks relating to our industry. Some of our principal risk and

uncertainties include:

42

we are susceptible to instances of food poisoning,
customer complaints and any other negative publicity
associated with our restaurants or food safety in general, in
which case value of our brands may suffer;

hotpot dining, Japanese cuisine and Korean BBQ may lose
popularity and our financial conditions and future growth
may be adversely affected,;

the lack of suitable locations on commercially viable
terms, the increase in rental expenses and failure to renew
existing leases of the leased properties may adversely
affect our results of operations;

our profitability is dependent upon the spending power
of our target consumers and a decline of such spending
power may adversely affect our business;

opening new hotpot restaurants may result in fluctuations
in our financial performance;

our overall performance may be affected by temporary
suspension of our operations for renovation and closure of
certain restaurants; and

our success depends on our key personnel and our ability
to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient number of
qualified employee.
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For further details about the principal risk and uncertainties of

the Group for the year, please refer to “Risk Factors” section of

the Prospectus.

Our Group has established structures and measures to manage
our risks, including but not limited to the following:

(ifi)

(iv)

our Board conducts a thorough examination of any
material risks associated with any material business
decision before making or approving such decision;

our senior management monitors daily operations and any
associated operational risks of our Group. They are also
responsible for identifying and assessing potential market
risks related to fluctuations in industrial environment and
movements in market variables and report irregularities
in connection with operational and market risks to our
executive Directors for formulating policies to mitigate
these risks;

our audit committee reviews the internal control system
and procedures for compliance with the requirements
of applicable laws and regulations and the Corporate
Governance Code, details of which are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report;

our Group has engaged an external professional consultant
to conduct independent internal control review for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and the review is completed as
at the date of this annual report; and

our Group has appointed an external legal adviser to
advise us on compliance with and to provide us with
updates on the changes in the GEM Listing Rules and the
applicable Hong Kong laws, rules and regulations from
time to time and as required.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 29

to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activity
of the Group is the provision of catering services, and sales and
processing of food in Hong Kong.

BRAARSEF AN T E AR M HE D

B - BoMBRER ARAR)
—g5 -
% [ B 3T ST B2 AP R B 10 20 1 TR 9

BIEARRN TNHIEE

0) é%@&f’ﬁﬁ S AT E R R
EZA - @Y EZRATERBMTAE
KRR TTiﬁﬁg

(i) SAEERABERASEMNATEE
AR IERE R S E R - 7R E
fﬁm&ﬂﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁaiﬁ&@]&

MSEEEE) 2 EEMIZRER - WF
qﬁﬂﬂi%#ﬁz%ﬁﬁﬁ’\\g ENRmSRR Y
BIRTA - MHIE R Lz p
HIBUER

(i)  AESTERARNOEREORE AR b

FeERTRIMMRE (EFBIHERN G
F EREREEEEN
GRS L&'&F ;

(iv) ANEBCDEA-RINEEEERRE
FE2024F3A3NBLEFEETELAN
e - MBMEENAFRA
HAT LATERK ¢ &

V) AEEDEE RN RN R
2% 25 T GEM L R AU R B
BOEEEE - WAL AR RIIE
#E R R E BB AR RIE
%o

FEEK

RRABZ ELEBBIRETR - HITB A
Bl ELEBEHNGE P RERMTFE29 ©
REBEBREEEBIREBERRG KHE
ENMNIESR -

BRI R AR /2024 43R 43



Directors’ Report
EEEREE

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 179.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group is set out on page 180 of the annual
report. The summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 March 2024, current assets amounted to approximately
HK$12.4 million (2023: approximately HK$9.8 million) of which
approximately HK$7.8 million (2023: approximately HK$2.7
million) was cash and cash equivalents, and approximately
HK$4.5 million (2023: approximately HK$6.8 million) was trade
receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables. The
Group's current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$12.0
million (2023: approximately HK$20.2 million), including trade
payables and accruals and other payables in the amount of
approximately HK$8.2 million (2023: approximately HK$11.2
million) and lease liabilities of approximately HK$3.8 million
(2023: approximately HK$4.0 million). There is no interest-
bearing borrowings as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$5.0 million).
Current ratio and quick ratio were approximately 1.0 and
approximately 1.0 respectively (2023: approximately 0.5 and
approximately 0.5 respectively).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 17
May 2023 and in this annual report, the Group did not have
other plans for material investments or capital assets as of 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS AND CHANGE IN USE
OF NET PROCEEDS

() Proceeds from the rights issue

References are made to the prospectus of the Company
dated 17 May 2023 and the announcement of the
Company dated 6 March 2023, 3 May 2023, 5 June 2023
and 13 June 2023, a total of 77,757,995 Rights Shares have
been issued at the price of HK$0.265 per share on 14 June
2023 (the “Rights Issue”) and the Company received net
proceeds from the Rights Issue of approximately HK$18.92
million. As at the date of this report, the net proceeds from
the Rights Issue have been applied and utilised as follows:

FEREREAZRBEBRE
FREAR
)y MHERRAERIE
R A AT B EIR2023F5H 178
MR =2 & AR B H B3 520234 3
A6H ~ 2023F5H3H ~ 202356 A
S5HN2023F6 13BN AE » A3
77,757,995 1% £t f% f% {5 B 72 2023 F 6
A14B 125 MR0.26578 T B I& 31T
(M58 ) AR R B HRKER 2 FT15
RIEREAB182ABHET - N
HwEBE - HRABRIBEFEE TR
FRARERRAT

Actual net Amount Unused net
proceeds from utilised from proceeds from
Rights Issue Rights Issue Rights Issue
R ERR B AR REAHR
FrisIEFEE S8 FEREFHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
F#ET FET FHET
Opening new restaurants FREFEE 11,000 11,000 -
Repayment of debts BIBER 5,200 5,200 -
General working capital —REEES 2,720 2,720 -
18,920 18,920 -
() Proceeds from the placing () EEZEEMEBRE

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 21 February 2024, 8 March 2024, 19
March 2024, 20 March 2024 and 21 March 2024 (the
"Announcements”), the Company has placed a total of
18,661,918 Placing Shares at HK$0.55 per Placing Share (the
"Placing”) on 19 March 2024 and the Company received
net proceeds from the Placing of approximately HK$9.95
million. Unless otherwise defined, capitalized terms
used herein have the same meanings as defined in the
Announcements.
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A total of 18,661,918 ordinary shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 (equivalent to the total aggregate nominal
value of share of HK$186,619.18 was issued) have been
successfully placed by the Placing Agent to not less than
six Placees at the Placing price of HK$0.55 per Placing
Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Placing
Agreement and Supplemental Agreement.

Reasons for the placing completed on 19 March 2024

In the view that (i) the Placing Agreement is entered into
upon normal commercial terms following arm’s length
negotiations between the Company and the Placing
Agent; (i) net proceeds of the Placing can strengthen the
financial position of the Group and provide additional
working capital to the Group; and (iii) the Placing also
represents good opportunities to broaden the shareholder
base and the capital base of the Company. Accordingly,
the Board consider that the Placing is in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Placing Price

The Placing Price of HK$0.55 represents (i) a discount
of approximately 3.51% to the closing price of HK$0.57
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date
of the Supplemental Agreement; and (ii) a discount of
approximately 18.40% to the average closing price of
HK$0.674 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the last five consecutive trading days immediately prior to
the date of the Placing Agreement. The net placing price
under the Placing is approximately HK$0.53 per Placing
Share.

As at the date of this annual report, the proceeds from the

Placing was fully utilised for general working capital of the
Group as intended.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RREREERBE EHEET HE
NG R EH R TR BB AR (9 0.5578
T2 EREBKN AL RSB AR
ABCEA 118,661,918 B EE A
0OVB Tz ERIR(EEREEITR
H{EA186,619.18B TLHIAD ) °

HR2024F3 8198 EHZBEEEEN
EH
EREEEHZEIIBARFHEEER
BRTEREIE R EERETL
(i Bc & BB 2 FT 1S BB FEER S0 No&
RNEE 2 AR B E B IR HEEE
INEBES  RGiNEEEEBENLZR
AERRBIZBRREBREXREB R
o Eilt EEERA - KEFER
BARRIRARE 2 BEFE -

BEE

At & B 0.5578 T B (1) A 10 7 46 7 1 ok
H BRTE RS S P P o W (B & 1% 0.57
EITHTEA3.51% RN BE
REHEABIREALEEERS
AEE R FHKRTE TR
0.67478 TLHT -2 4)18.40% - BLEF18
HTIZREFEASRREERMNL
0.53% 7T °

WAFRAS - REFEFERED
A B2 A AR B — BB
4o



Directors’ Report
EEEREE

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not made any charitable
donations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company's share capital and movements during
the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 83 to 84 and note
27(b) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company does not have reserve
available for distribution to the Shareholders (2023:
approximately HK$2.2 million).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Apart from the contracts relating to the reorganisation of our
Group in relation to the listing and note 28 to consolidated
financial statements to this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company had a material interest subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the year is contained in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of the transactions as
described in the note fell under the definition of connected
transactions.
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INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, the substantial shareholders and their
respective close associates had an interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group during the year ended or as at
31 March 2024.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the share option scheme disclosed below, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement (as defined
in section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
(Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has, in accordance with Chapter 23 of GEM
Listing Rules, refreshed the share option scheme adopted by
the resolutions in writing of all the shareholders passed on 20
January 2017 ("Share Option Scheme”), as approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the Extraordinary General
Meeting held on 27 May 2022.

A summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option
Scheme is set out as below:

(A) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers
of our Group and to promote the success of the business
of our Group.
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(B)

(@)

(D)

Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such
terms as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time
or part-time), director, consultant or adviser of our
Group, or any substantial shareholder of our Group, or
any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer,
business partner or service provider of our Group, options
to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance with
paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case
may be, our independent non-executive directors) from
time to time on the basis of his contribution or potential
contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Price of shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by our Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher
of: (i) the closing price of our Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
of the closing prices of our Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date
of grant of the option. For the purpose of calculating the
subscription price, where our Company has been listed on
the Stock Exchange for less than five business days, the
issue price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange shall be
used as the closing price for any business day fall within
the period before Listing.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to
our Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
an option is HK$1.

(B)

(C)

(D)
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(E) Maximum number of shares
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(a)

Subject to sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) below, the
maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise
of all options (excluding option previously granted
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised under
the Share Option Scheme) to be granted after Share
Option Scheme refreshed and renewed must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of our Shares in issue as at
the date of EGM passing the resolution. Therefore,
it is expected that our Company may grant options
in respect of up to 1,295,999 Shares after share
consolidation became effective on 20 June 2022.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed
at any time by approval of the shareholders in general
meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Company
must not exceed 10% of our Shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the refreshed limit. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of our Company
(including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Company) will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the refreshed 10% limit. A circular must be
sent to our shareholders containing the information as
required under the GEM Listing Rules in this regard.
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(0 Our Company may seek separate approval by
our shareholders in general meeting for granting
options beyond the 10% limit provided the options in
excess of the 10% limit are granted only to grantees
specifically identified by our Company before such
approval is sought. In such event, our Company
must send a circular to our shareholders containing a
generic description of such grantees, the number and
terms of such options to be granted and the purpose
of granting options to them with an explanation as to
how the terms of the options will serve such purpose
and all other information required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

(d) The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of our Company
must not exceed 30% of our Shares in issue from time
to time. No options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of
our Company if this will result in such 30% limit being
exceeded.

(F) Maximum number of shares of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to any participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of
our Company in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any
further grant of options in excess of such limit must be
separately approved by shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his associates abstaining from
voting. In such event, our Company must send a circular
to our shareholders containing the identity of the grantee,
the number and terms of the options to be granted (and
options previously granted to such grantee), and all other
information required under the GEM Listing Rules. The
number and terms (including the subscription price) of the
options to be granted must be fixed before the approval
of our shareholders and the date of the Board meeting
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription
price.
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(G) Grant of options to certain connected persons
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(a)

Any grant of an option to a Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of our Company (or any
of their respective associates) must be approved by
our independent non-executive directors (excluding
any independent non-executive director who is the
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive
director (or any of their respective associates) will
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted to such person under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of our Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of grant:

() representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our
Shares in issue; and

(i)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of our Shares at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options is required to be
approved by our shareholders at a general meeting of
our Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.
Our Company shall send a circular to our shareholders
containing all information as required under the GEM
Listing Rules in this regard. All connected persons
of our Company shall abstain from voting (except
where any connected person intends to vote against
the proposed grant). Any change in the terms of an
option granted to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive director or any of their
respective associates is also required to be approved
by our shareholders in the aforesaid manner.
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(H) Restrictions on the times of grant of options

(a)

Our Company may not grant any options after inside

information has come to its knowledge until such

inside information has been announced. In particular,

no options may be granted during the period

commencing one month immediately preceding the

earlier of:

(1)

(ii)

the date of the Board meeting (as such date
is first notified to the Stock Exchange in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules) for
the approval of our Company’s results for any
year, half-year, quarterly or other interim period
(whether or not required under the GEM Listing
Rules); and

the deadline for our Company to publish an
announcement of the results for any year, half-
year or quarterly under the GEM Listing Rules,
or other interim period (whether or not required
under the GEM Listing Rules).

Further to the restrictions in paragraph (a) above, no

option may be granted to a Director on any day on

which financial results of our Company are published:

during the period of 60 days immediately
preceding the publication date of the annual
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of
the relevant financial year up to the publication
date of the results; and

during the period of 30 days immediately
preceding the publication date of the quarterly
results and half-year results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant quarterly or
half-year period up to the publication date of
the results.
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Q)

(K)

(L)

54

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

Performance targets

Save as determined by the Board and provided in the
offer of the grant of the relevant options, there is no
performance target which must be achieved before any of
the options can be exercised.

Ranking of Shares

Our Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option
will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles for the
time being in force and will rank pari passu in all respects
with our fully paid Shares in issue on the date of allotment
and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate in
all dividends or other distributions paid or made after
the date of allotment other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or
resolved to be paid or made with respect to a record date
which shall be on or before the date of allotment, save that
our Shares allotted upon the exercise of any option shall
not carry any voting rights until the name of the grantee
has been duly entered on the register of members of our
Company as the holder thereof.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option shall not be transferable or assignable and shall
be personal to the grantee of the option.
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(M) Rights on cessation of employment by death

(N)

In the event of the death of the grantee (provided
that none of the events which would be a ground for
termination of employment referred to in (N) below arises
within a period of three years prior to the death, in the
case the grantee is an employee at the date of grant),
the legal personal representative(s) of the grantee may
exercise the option up to the grantee’s entitlement (to
the extent which has become exercisable and not already
exercised) within a period of 12 months following his death
provided that where any of the events referred to in (Q),
(R) and (S) occurs prior to his death or within such period
of 12 months following his death, then his legal personal
representative(s) may so exercise the option within such of
the various periods respectively set out therein.

Rights on cessation of employment by dismissal

In the event that the grantee is an employee of our Group
at the date of grant and he subsequently ceases to be
an employee of our Group on any one or more of the
grounds that he has been guilty of serious misconduct,
or has committed an act of bankruptcy or has become
insolvent or has made any arrangement or composition
with his or her creditors generally, or has been convicted
of any criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty
or (if so determined by the Board) on any other ground
on which an employer would be entitled to terminate his
employment at common law or pursuant to any applicable
laws or under the grantee's service contract with our
Group, his option shall lapse automatically (to the extent
not already exercised) on the date of cessation of his
employment with our Group.
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(O) Rights on cessation of employment for other

(P)

56

reasons

In the event that the grantee is an employee, a consultant
or an adviser (as the case may be) of member of our Group
at the date of grant and he subsequently ceases to be
an employee, a consultant or an adviser (as the case may
be) of our Group for any reason other than his death or
the termination of his employment of an employee or
engagement of a consultant or an adviser (as the case may
be) on one or more of the grounds specified in (N) above,
the option (to the extent not already lapsed or exercised)
shall lapse on the expiry of three months after the date
of cessation of such employment of an employee or
engagement of a consultant or an adviser (as the case may
be) (which date will be in the case of an employee the last
actual working day, on which the grantee was physically
at work with our Company or the relevant member of our
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not, and in
the case of a consultant or an adviser (as the case may be),
the last actual day of providing consultancy or advisory
services to the relevant member of our Group).

Effects of alterations to share capital

In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of our
Company whilst any option remains exercisable, whether
by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, rights issue,
open offer, consolidation, subdivision or reduction of
the share capital of our Company (other than an issue of
Shares as consideration in respect of a transaction to which
any member of our Group is a party), such corresponding
adjustments (if any) shall be made in the number of Shares
subject to the option so far as unexercised; and/or the
subscription prices, as the auditors of or independent
financial adviser to our Company shall certify or confirm
in writing (as the case may be) to the Board to be in their
opinion fair and reasonable in compliance with the relevant
provisions of the GEM Listing Rules, or any guideline or
supplemental guideline issued by the Stock Exchange
from time to time, provided that any alteration shall give
a grantee, as near as possible, the same proportion of the
issued share capital of our Company as that to which he
was previously entitled, but no adjustment shall be made
to the effect of which would be to enable a Share to be
issued at less than its nominal value.
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(Q) Rights on a general offer

(R)

In the event of a general offer (whether by way of
takeover offer or scheme of arrangement or otherwise
in like manner) being made to all our shareholders (or all
such holders other than the offeror and/or any persons
controlled by the offeror and/or any person acting in
association or concert with the offeror) and such offer
becoming or being declared unconditional, the grantee (or,
as the case may be, his legal personal representative(s))
shall be entitled to exercise the option in full (to the extent
not already lapsed or exercised) at any time within one
month after the date on which the offer becomes or is
declared unconditional.

Rights on winding-up

In the event a notice is given by our Company to our
members to convene a general meeting for the purposes
of considering, and if thought fit, approving a resolution to
voluntarily wind-up our Company, our Company shall on
the same date as or soon after it despatches such notice
to each member of our Company give notice thereof to all
grantees and thereupon, each grantee (or, as the case may
be, his legal personal representative(s)) shall be entitled
to exercise all or any of his options at any time not later
than two business days prior to the proposed general
meeting of our Company by giving notice in writing to
our Company, accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the aggregate subscription price for our Shares
in respect of which the notice is given whereupon our
Company shall as soon as possible and, in any event, no
later than the business day immediately prior to the date
of the proposed general meeting referred to above, allot
the relevant Shares to the grantee credited as fully paid.
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(S) Rights on compromise or arrangement

58

In the event of a compromise or arrangement between
our Company and our shareholders or the creditors of our
Company being proposed in connection with a scheme for
the reconstruction of our Company or its amalgamation
with any other company or companies pursuant to the
Companies Law, our Company shall give notice thereof to
all the grantees (or, as the case may be, their legal personal
representatives) on the same day as it gives notice of the
meeting to our shareholders or the creditors to consider
such a compromise or arrangement and the options (to
the extent not already lapsed or exercised) shall become
exercisable in whole or in part on such date not later
than two business days prior to the date of the general
meeting directed to be convened by the court for the
purposes of considering such compromise or arrangement
("Suspension Date”), by giving notice in writing to our
Company accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the aggregate subscription price for our Shares
in respect of which the notice is given whereupon our
Company shall as soon as practicable and, in any event, no
later than 3:00 p.m. on the business day immediately prior
to the date of the proposed general meeting, allot and
issue the relevant Shares to the grantee credited as fully
paid. With effect from the Suspension Date, the rights of all
grantees to exercise their respective options shall forthwith
be suspended. Upon such compromise or arrangement
becoming effective, all options shall, to the extent that
they have not been exercised, lapse and determine. The
Board shall endeavour to procure that our Shares issued as
a result of the exercise of options hereunder shall for the
purposes of such compromise or arrangement form part of
the issued share capital of our Company on the effective
date thereof and that such Shares shall in all respects be
subject to such compromise or arrangement. If for any
reason such compromise or arrangement is not approved
by the court (whether upon the terms presented to the
court or upon any other terms as may be approved by such
court), the rights of grantees to exercise their respective
options shall with effect from the date of the making of
the order by the court be restored in full but only up to the
extent not already exercised and shall thereupon become
exercisable (but subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme) as if such compromise or arrangement
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(T

had not been proposed by our Company and no claim
shall lie against our Company or any of its officers for any
loss or damage sustained by any grantee as a result of
such proposal, unless any such loss or damage shall have
been caused by the act, neglect, fraud or wilful default on
the part of our Company or any of our officers.

Lapse of options

An option shall lapse automatically on the earliest of:

(i)  the expiry of the period referred to in paragraph (1)
above;

(i)  the date on which the Board exercises our Company’s
right to cancel, revoke or terminate the option on
the ground that the grantee commits a breach of
paragraph (L);

(iii) the expiry of the relevant period or the occurrence of
the relevant event referred to in paragraphs (M), (O),
(Q), (R) or (S) above;

(iv) subject to paragraph (R) above, the date of the
commencement of the winding-up of our Company;

(v) the occurrence of any act of bankruptcy, insolvency
or entering into of any arrangements or compositions
with his creditors generally by the grantee, or
conviction of the grantee of any criminal offence
involving his integrity or honesty;
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V)

(vi) where the grantee is only a substantial shareholder
of any member of our Group, the date on which the
grantee ceases to be a substantial shareholder of
such member of our Group; or

(vi) subject to the compromise or arrangement as
referred to in paragraph (S) become effective, the
date on which such compromise or arrangement

becomes effective.

Cancellation of options granted but not yet
exercised

Any cancellation of options granted but not exercised
may be effected on such terms as may be agreed with
the relevant grantee, as the Board may in its absolute
discretion sees fit and in a manner that complies with all
applicable legal requirements for such cancellation.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of ten years commencing on the date on the Adoption
Date and shall expire at the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary
thereof unless terminated earlier by the shareholders in
general meeting.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme as at the
date of Annual Report was about 2 years and 6 months.

(W) Alteration to the Share Option Scheme

60

()  The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any
respect by resolution of the Board except that
alterations of the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme which alters to the advantage of the grantees
of the options relating to matters governed by Rule
23.03 of the GEM Listing Rules shall not be made
except with the prior approval of the shareholders in
general meeting.
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(i) Any amendment to any terms and conditions of the
Share Option Scheme which are of a material nature
or any change to the terms of options granted, or
any change to the authority of the Board in respect
of alteration of the Share Option Scheme must be
approved by shareholders in general meeting except
where the alterations take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(iii) Any amendment to any terms of the Share Option
Scheme or the options granted shall comply with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Notes thereto and the supplementary guidance
on the interpretation of the GEM Listing Rules issued
by the Stock Exchange from time to time or any
guidelines issued by the Stock Exchange from time to
time.

(X) Termination to the Share Option Scheme

(Y)

Our Company by resolution in general meeting or the
Board may at any time terminate the operation of the
Share Option Scheme and in such event no further
options will be offered but options granted prior to such
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.

Conditions of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is conditional upon the Stock
Exchange granting the listing of, and permission to deal in,
our Shares which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of
any options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme, and commencement of dealings in the Shares on
the Stock Exchange.

(i)

(iii)
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(Z) Movement of the Share Options

There is no vesting period of the Share Options. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, no option has been
granted or agreed to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

The movement of the Share Options during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and outstanding as at 31 March
2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the Annual Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Executive directors

Mr. Yue Dinglong (Chairman) (appointed as independent non-
executive director on 1 December 2023, redesignated
as Chairman and executive director on 3 May 2024 and
resigned on 10 July 2024)

Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) (retired as Chairman on 3 May 2024
and succeeded as Chairman on 10 July 2024)

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Mr. He Zhiwei (appointed on 1 December 2023 and resigned on
3 May 2024)

Mr. Zheng Haoze (appointed on 23 January 2024 and resigned
on 4 March 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chan Kwan Yung (resigned on 2 January 2024)

Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam (resigned on é6 November 2023)

Mr. Zhang Yuhao (appointed on 6 November 2023 and resigned
on 10 July 2024)

Ms. Lau Man Kei

Mr. Yue Dinglong (appointed as independent non-executive
director on 1 December 2023 and redesignated as Chairman
and executive director on 3 May 2024 and resigned on 10
July 2024)

Mr. Tian Wuchun (appointed on 3 May 2024)
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Pursuant to article 84 of the Second Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”), Ms. Lau Man Kei will retire from office
as Director by rotation and will not offer herself for re-election
at the AGM. Ms. Lau Man Kei has confirmed that she has no
disagreement with the Board and there are no matters that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders and
the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Second Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Tian
Wuchun shall retire from office as Director at the AGM and
being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Chow Yik was appointed as an executive director pursuant
to his appointment letter dated 11 December 2020 with no
fixed term of service commencing from 11 December 2020.

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak was appointed as an executive director
pursuant to his appointment letter dated 11 December 2020
with no fixed term of service commencing from 11 December
2020.
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Mr. Tian Wuchun was appointed as an independent non-
executive director pursuant to his appointment letter date 3
May 2024 for a term of one year commencing from 3 May 2024
and shall continue and subject to re-election in the annual
general meeting after his appointment.

Ms. Lau Man Kei was appointed as an independent non-
executive director pursuant to her appointment letter dated
16 February 2023 for a term of one year commencing on 16
February 2023 and shall continue and subject to re-election in
the annual general meeting after her appointment.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
INEDs regarding his independence in accordance with Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and therefore considers each of them
to be independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management fell
within the following bands:

= AR B FE Hrip
A& =SAREIE B MHFMEET T

Number of
individuals

A

Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

£ %1,000,0007% 7T 4
1,000,001;8 T2 1,500,000/ 7T -
1,500,001, 7T, 22,000,000/ 7T -
2,000,0017% 7T 2 2,500,000/ 7T -

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

Biographical details of the Directors and the Management of
the Group are set out on pages 16 to 19 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or an entity connected with any of the
Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at any
time during or at the end of the year ended 31 March 2024.

As of 31 March 2024, no contract of significance had been
entered into between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
and the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of any business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Directors confirm that as at the date of the Listing on 15
February 2017 and up to the date of this annual report, there
has been no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are detailed below.

BE HESBEAQATHW LEHE
%

BEER  R2017F2H15H FE BB
NEEARFRBHIE - AQ B S EATMAH
BARWEREE BEELOARRMNE
Al FHFES o

ESENA QAT REAEBEBENR
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UL A
RE

EERNAAABRETOERN N

it o

Number of
share options
Exercise Number of cancelled  Number of
price share options  during the share options
per share asat  yearended asat
option 1 April 2023 31 March 31 March
Name of Director Position/capacity  Date of grant (Note)  Exercise period (Note) 2024 2024
R2023%  EZ20245F
ShERE 4B1AZ  3A31AL  H2024%
g BREHE FEE#z  3A31BZ
ESfE Bi/Bg RLHAH (i) 76 (i)  BREHE BREHA
Mr. Chow Yik Executive Director ~ 10.1.2022 HK$3.954  10.1.2022-9.1.2032 204,454 - 204,454
FRE HiTES 2022417108 39T 202F1A10BE 204,454 - 204,454
203251798
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak  Executive Director ~ 10.1.2022 HK$3.954  10.1.2022-9.1.2032 224,454 - 224,454
KA HTES 2022417108 394 202F1A10BE 204,454 - 204,454
20325 1A9H
448908 - 448,908

Note: Following the Share Consolidation became effective on 20 July 2022 and
the Rights Issues completed on 13 June 2023, adjustments have been

made to the exercise prices of the granted share options and the number

BiRE 42 R% 10 & HF 7R 20224E7 A 20 B A 30 K A I A
2023F6 A13ATMKE - BEERDBRERN
TEERERHBRERITERE TFEITNG
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of Consolidated Shares to be issued upon the exercise of the granted

share options.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HAD BRI -



Directors’ Report
EEEREE

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware of, as
at the date of this report, none of the Directors of the Company
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange: (i) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions in which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein (the “Register”); or (iii) pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by Directors to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at the date of this
report, the following persons/entities (other than a Director
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO (the
“Substantial Shareholders’ Register”), or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued voting shares
of the Company:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

Br EXCRTHEEIN  BEEMA  RAR
LHE MEARAREEAANQARES
AREEE (& R EHFRBEEERMEXV
2B) BT A% « BRI S BEREE T %
BEM : ()VRBEFESFRBHERFIEXVIEE
78D EBBAE AN B KB R AT A A 2 5K
KB (BIERBEESRBEKRIZEKRX
WEEIRAERENTMEZIAR)
k(iR 1R B %5 & B E 6k 5] 28 352 R 7B Al £
REZAGFTIE = e it ([ &2 M ) Aos s sk
2 iR IEGEM EM R AISE5.4625.67
KBEBRESFEITESFRIMREBNE AR
N R Z TR R UK R o

FERRRAQAREBEEER
B - MHERD R EEE PR ER
5979}

BEEMM  WAREBRH - THALS
B (ARAEFHRIN R LA
A RERE S BRI EXVEEF2 M3
DRGSR AR R BB ETORE
SRS BRI IR IR A8 75 I B B 1R 9] 55 336 1 AR
FEMBLM(IERRRECH]) a#Es
FAR - REERIEERARTARRE
BT PR S%EIA RIS

AATEBRNFR

Approximate percentage
of the issued share

Capacity/Nature Number of capital of the Company
Name of interest Shares held (Note 1)
RAREBITRAMN
BHABRDL
HE 5%, e BENROHE (M5E1)
Ms. Zuo Poing* Beneficial owner 28,860,000 25.77%
Rt EnEEA (Note 1)
(Mg7E1)
Note: PiisE
1. The percentage is calculated based on 111,971,512 Shares in issue as at 1. BOLDDERAFRABS HTRN

the date of this annual report.

111,971 5128851 -
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons who/entities
which were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
issued voting shares of the Company, and: (i) had any interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares that would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or (ii) which would be
recorded in the Substantial Shareholders’ Register required to
be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has no major customers for the catering services. For
sales and processing of food business, the revenue attributable
to the Group’s largest customer and the top five customers
accounted for approximately 14.7% and 19.9% of the Group's
total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024, respectively.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and the top five suppliers accounted for approximately
14.5% and 52.9% of the Group's total purchases for year ended
31 March 2024, respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) had any significant beneficial interest in the major
customers and suppliers disclosed above.

Our Directors believe that our Group maintains good working

relations with its business partners and it endeavours to improve
the quality of services to customers.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that
is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company
maintained the amount of public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under
the laws of the Cayman lIslands or the Articles of Association
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Second Article and Association,
the Directors of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices, or trusts. Such provisions were in force throughout
the year ended 31 March 2024 and are currently in force. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ Liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be
brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

REAARISRE
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The operations of our hotpot restaurants in Hong Kong are
subject to environmental protection laws and regulations
promulgated by the government of Hong Kong. The Group has
devoted operating and financial resources to environmental
compliance as required by Hong Kong laws and regulations in
the future. Apart from the daily cleaning procedures adopted
by each of our hotpot restaurants, our Group also engaged
external cleaning companies, which are independent third
parties, to provide regular services for us, including pest
control, garbage collection, carpet cleaning, aquarium cleaning
and grease tank cleaning. The Group has also implemented
policies to ensure that there is minimal waste from our business
operations. For example, we equipped our hotpot restaurants
with a multi-functional food washer to minimise the use of
water. In addition, we also pay a sewage services charge which
comprises a sewage charge and a trade effluent surcharge
and the charge is based on the amount of water used. The
sewage services charges were not exceeding HK$100,000
(2023: approximately HK$100,000) during the year ended 31
March 2024. Our Directors are of the opinion that the cost
of compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations for the year ended 31 March 2024 to be immaterial.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A separate environmental, social and governance report for the
year ended 31 March 2024 is published on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company's website.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting date of 31 March 2024
has been disclosed in Management Discussion and Analysis
section of this annual report.
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AUDITORS

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited (formerly known as Mazars CPA
Limited) (“Forvis Mazars"”) has been reappointed as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2024. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Forvis
Mazars as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chow Yik
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 July 2024
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forvss
mazars

TO THE MEMBERS OF CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
CBK Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80
to 179, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 March 2024, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31
March 2024, and of its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Forvis Mazars CPA LiMITED
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42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Tel TE7f: (852) 2909 5555

Fax f£: (852) 2810 0032

Email % info@mazars.hk

Website fg11k: www.forvismazars.com/hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

FRREELSE
FAREZFEASREESNERAE - ¥
BEEERANGRAMBREARASEENS
H o WEFENEEBRERRAMBR
KRERHERAERE—HEE  BETE
M FEERTRHEER -

Key audit matter
BAEELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EECERTFNMEEFERERSE

Revenue recognition from the Group’s restaurant operations

R BRERELENKZ

We identified revenue recognition from
restaurant operations as a key audit matter
as revenue recognition is quantitatively
significant to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and material revenue transactions
may be conducted in cash and/or
occurred close to the end of the reporting
period.

FEEORBEREERARAER S5
BEZEE ARNGHERUGREEE R
2 ER AR EBFEKR - A NGRIR
EMARAREUR TR HBEEERK
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AN
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Related disclosures are included in Notes
3 and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MERE R B E N AR A M IS MR M T3 M7 o

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:
EENBREZIEF (Hhe) 8

e Obtaining an understanding of the Group's revenue
recognition policy for the Group's restaurant operations;
o TR BEEEERLEN SEBERSHEREEK

e  Obtaining an understanding of the business processes
and key controls for validity of revenue recognition from
restaurant operations and performing test of control, on
a sample basis;

e THBEEBEEWGHERANMEERRE R ERER -
WHBEETTIE SRR -

e Verifying the revenue from restaurant operations by
reconciling revenue recognised for restaurant operations
against daily sales reports and agreeing the amount with
cash receipts and electronic settlement statements, on a
sample basis; and

s RBAKERZEMINWARTHHERSETRYUARE
ReWEeBEE T AEMRSBEMERT - MERE
ERZENWRE M

e Performing analytical review on the revenue by
comparing with market trend, operating statistics and
other financial data (e.g. costs of materials consumed)
and considering the reasonableness.

o BBEMSBY  LEMMEMMBER (WHMEERE
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B R BETRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BAREELEE

BRREERSEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EE2BERTFNMREREEXSE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

W* - BERREAREFEEERE

At 31 March 2024, the Group has property,
plant and equipment of approximately
HK$2,234,000 (net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment) and
right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$3,364,000 (net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment).
M2024F3A31H - EKEEYME - BE
Ko B A A Ko (5 FRHE & B 73 Bl /3 #92,234,000
78 7T (B RAHT & MOBUE ) F 493,364,000
BT (HIER RETHrESIRE) °
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Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

BEENARESRERF (ARER) 8

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer to assess the value-in-use of each cash-
generating unit;
AZEEMETEEReELBUNERABERRIZR
B~ BB MEEIL

Assessing the valuation methodologies adopted in the
valuations with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;
R2EHITAERNZEFR - FERGERAERAZGEE
&

Assessing the suitability of the source data as the basis
for the valuation by comparing key financial information
in the source data with the financial statements and
operational forecast prepared by the management of the
Group;
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B R BETRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
RAREELEE

BRREERSEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEZERTFNMEERREEZEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

WE BERREURREHELEREE)

The management of the Group engaged
an independent professional valuer (the
“Valuer”) to assess the value-in-use of
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets of each cash-generating unit
for the purpose of impairment assessment.
The impairment assessment involves
estimation by the management of Group
in certain areas including the discount rate
and the underlying cash flow projection
based on the future market supply and
demand conditions. Any changes in the
management of the Group's estimates
may result in significant financial impact to
the Group.

EEEERERFREVEXRMGEM(AE
W) EL BN - BER
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We have identified the impairment
assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as
a key audit matter due to significant
estimates made by the management of
the Group in determining the recoverable
amount of such cash-generating unit.

BEEEHYE  BELARBANERESER
ERNRETERESBEREZEE A
R BEEEEEEAMERBARCELSE
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Related disclosures are included in
Notes 3, 4, 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
EEREBHNGRE P BWEMEI 415
K16 e

Assessing the key assumptions underlying the operational
forecasts by comparison with historical financial
performance together with market and other externally
available information;
BEBLBELMBREER TSR EMEI BERE
o FHE AR ERA 2 T2RER ¢

Assessing the discount rates applied in the cash flow
forecasts, by benchmarking against those of similar
companies in the markets;

A5 ERURRESEE  SHERSRETRBFAERMARE
K

Re-performing the management of the Group's

calculations of the sensitivity of the key assumptions

adopted in the cash flow forecasts and considering

possible management bias in the selection of

assumptions; and

ﬁiﬁux EEEEEBHRSAERANMERATIER
RZPRENEERERBRBFELEAIRFEZRRE + &

Evaluating the sensitivity of impairment assessment to
changes in key assumptions.

AHE R ERH S S E B RER B CHBURIE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2024 Annual Report of the Company but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going
concern basis of accounting by the directors of the
Company and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
and regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 July 2024

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: PO5510
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REESEREMEERER

Year ended 31 March 2024 #, 2202438318 I EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
iz THET FABT
Revenue I #5 7 25,365 30,040
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA (11,328) (12,987)
Gross profit ER 14,037 17,053
Other revenue, other gain and loss HipUg A~ Elizs & EE 8 1,156 1,856
Employee benefit expenses EERFFXL 10 (11,736) (13,148)
Depreciation e (9.257) (9,498)
Property rentals and related expenses )24 M AARIF XX (1,484) (1,039)
Fuel and utility expenses Y SYNUN il aba (942) (1,227)
Impairment loss of property, Y% - BB ME&EZ
plant and equipment BEEE 15 (2,251) (2,078)
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets {fREEE 2 REEE 16 (750) (885)
Administrative and other TE R H A& BRI
operating expenses (8,941) (14,854)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMEA Rz e 34 1,873 -
Finance costs BhE R 9 (1,098) (1,167)
Loss before tax BRBLATES 1R 10 (19,393) (24,975)
Income tax expenses PSR 13 - -
Loss for the year FEREE (19,393) (24,975)
Other comprehensive (loss) income FREMEHE(EE)
for the year Wz
Items that will be reclassified HEHE AR R 2
subsequently to profit or loss: BHH -
Exchange difference on translation of (A& GINERS 7 [E 5 =5
a foreign operation (74) 133
Release of exchange reserve upon & —fEM B A RE Rk
disposal of a subsidiary bEE 5 R 34(b) 87 -
Total other comprehensive income FREMEEWEELE
for the year 13 133
Total comprehensive loss for FRAZHEEERE
the year (19,380) (24,842)
(Loss) Profit for the year UTNREEEFR(EE)
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIE ZS N (24,595) (22,227)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR 5,202 (2,748)
(19,393) (24,975)
Total comprehensive (loss) income LI TF&EBEEGEERZE
for the year attributable to: (B8 A
Owners of the Company ZAN/NETE Z SN (24,582) (22,094)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A 5,202 (2,748)
(19,380) (24,842)
Loss per share attributable to KRB FEE AEML
owners of the Company BREE 14
Basic and diluted (HK$) EARREEET) (0.30) (0.85)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2024 5320243 H31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B TET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M -~ R N ERE 15 2,234 6,344
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 3,364 4,243
Interest in a joint venture R—HEEERE R 33 - -
Non-current deposits JERNEAR & 19 2,639 966
8,237 11,553
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 27 236
Trade receivables g 5 W FIE 18 1,966 2,657
Deposits, prepayments and Be - ERIER
other receivables H b e IR 19 2,565 4,184
Cash and cash equivalents HENIREEEY 20 7,796 2,729
12,354 9,806
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B 5 ENHIE 21 1,442 1,500
Accruals and other payables JEAT & A N H A FE < 518 22 6,277 7,787
Amount due to non-controlling JE - EE AR M 2 TR IR
interests 23 433 1,962
Lease liabilities HEaRE 16 3,827 3,993
Interest-bearing borrowings FEER 24 - 5,000
11,979 20,242
Net current assets (liabilities) RBEE(BEE)FEE 375 (10,436)
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERABERE 8,612 1,117
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 749 3,297
Deferred tax liabilities BLEMBEAE 25 111 111
860 3,408
Net assets (liabilities) EE(BB)EE 7,752 (2,291)
B EEE AR AR /2024 FE5R 81



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2024 5320243 H31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B TET FET
Capital and reserves BEXRK#E

Share capital A& 2 26 1,120 156
Reserves s 6,762 3,440

Equity attributable to owners of NAREA ANEEEZE
the Company 7,882 3,596
Non-controlling interests JEVER R 29 (130) (5,887)
Total equity (deficits) fE (E4L) Bz 7,752 (2,291)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and 4&MBHRERCN2024F7 A3 EES
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 July 2024 @8 RIRRETIEE » WE&H T ATRE

and are signed on its behalf by: ®E:
Chow Yik Tsui Wing Tak
AR wKE
Director Director
£ EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREER

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN 2PN
Share Non- Total
Share  Share  Merger Exchange  option Retained controlling ~ equity
copital  premium  reseve  reseve  reserve  eamings  Sub-total interests  (deficits)
(B
ke BHEE ARE EXRG BRERE REEN N FERER  BE
HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Ten Thr TEr TExr TExr TR TEr  TEr  TEn
(Note26) (Note(a) (Note(b)) (Note(c) (Note32)
(Wire)  (Met) (Wab)  (Wag) (M)
At 1 April 2022 R02E4A1H 3,888 - 51 (146) 1008 17489 18932 (3139 19,681
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - a2 27 (24975
Other comprehensive income  Eft2EKE
ftem that may be reclassified R e Bz
subsequently to profit or loss: E#ZEf -
Exchange difference on translation #8850 £ 7B 28
of a foreign operation - - - 133 - - 133 - 133
Total comprehensive FR2EFRAE
loss for the year - - - 133 - @an @09 48 (2488
Transactions with owners HEEAZRS
Contributions and distributions ~ ZER A
lssue of shares upon REEBRIRN
placing (Note 26(c) (PrE26(c) meo2m - - - -2 - 29
Transaction costs attributable to ~ EFEBETRAEE L
shares issued upon placing RSHAW26()
(Note 26(c)) - (88) - - - - (88) - 88)
Reduction of share capital and AR A R R B
share premium (Note 26(0)) (HizE2e(b)) (4509 (2089 - - - 6,598 4509 - -
Forfeiture of share options (Note 32) RAUEMRHE ([ 32) - - - - (35) 35 - - -
Changes in ownership interests ~— ATAEER "
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - - 4 - - - 4 _ 4
(3732) - 4 - (36 69 6,602 - 2810
At 31 March 2023 I3 15 S5 ) T2 26 M0 B8 L)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2024 & E2024F3A831HIFEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG EIN.
Retained
Share earnings Non- Total
Share Share  Merger Exchange  option (Accumulated controlling ~ (deficits)
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses)  Sub-total interests equity
REEA (B4R
Bk RGEE kR EIRE BRERE (RHER) Nt FERER e
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thn ThRn Tz TEx TR Thn TRn ThEn  TEn
(Note 26)  (Note () (Note(b) (Note(c) (Note 32)
(Wit2e)  (Wata)  (WaEb) (W)  (WaE32)
At 1 April 2023 RN3E4A1A 156 - 525 (13) M2 2,216 3,440 (5,887)  (2.291)
(Loss) Profit for the year ER(5R)EH - - - - - (24,595 (24595 5202 (19,393)
Other comprehensive (loss)income  EAE2 7 (§518) ik
Items that may be reclassified BRE R ER
subsequently to profit or loss: Ef
Exchange difference on translation ~ MAEE/NEH X8
of aforeign operation - - - (74) - - (74) . (74)
Release of exchange reseveupon i E—TEBAAEER
disposal of a subsiciary (Note 34) B3 Eefa(Hizr34b) - = = 87 = - 87 o 87
Total other comprehensive EREHLANELE
income for the year - - - 13 - - 13 = 13
Total comprehensive (loss) FRAE(FE) baeE
income for the year - - - 13 - (24,595 (24,582) 5202 (19,380)
Transactions with owners BREAZRS
Contributions and distributions RERAF
Issue of shares upon rights RMEFEZTRG
issues (Note 26(d) (HsE261d) 778 19829 = = = - 19829 - 20,607
Transaction costs attributableto ~ MERERTREEZ
shares issued upon rights REHAHE()
issue (Note 26(d) - (1,692) - - - - (1,692) - (1,692)
Issue of shares upon placing PRERE TR
(Note 26(e) (HiE260e) 186 10077 - - - - 00m - 10,263
Transaction costs attributableto ~ REERE{TRAERZ
shares issued upon placing RFHA(HE20)
(Note 26(e)) - (310) - - - - (310) - (310)
Changes inownership interests ~ AFAEEZES
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(a))  HE—RHBLAR(H3UE) - - - - - - = 555 555
94 27,904 - - - - 27904 555 29,423
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3831A 1120 27,904 525 - M2 (22,379) 6,762 (130) 7,152

84 CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREER

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

Notes:

(a)

The application of share premium is governed by section 34 of the
Cayman Islands Companies Act (2023 Revision). Where the Company
issues shares at a premium, whether for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to
the aggregate amount or value of the premiums on those shares shall be
transferred to the share premium account.

The merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired as a result of the
corporate reorganisation and the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

Exchange reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies adopted for foreign currency translation as set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

BT -

Bt m (B2 RIS 288 A RlA(20234F
ERTHR) FB34IGFTMRE o MARF AR S HE
77 A EIEITAA - AREERZE RN
i BARRRSARE IR ARRM S ERR -

EOHEEIEE QR EAMMKBEIN B AR 2K
RNEERAR R RARIBZERAMETT 2 A
EEZZR -

B S R Ty IRIB AR & A B 3R AT RE 3P # AL A1
BRI 2 Bt BUR MR R BRIE -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2024 #, 2202438318 I EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
{iEss FHET T
Cash flows from operating activities K& EHREHRE
Loss before tax BRA% A EE (19,393) (24,975)
Adjustments for: A TSIEFE -
Covid-19-related rent concessions A EARRE
EAMESER - (155)
Gain on lease modification MEETT = (347) -
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1% - BE MR IEITE
equipment 5,142 5,040
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENSE 4,115 4,458
Finance costs BB KA 1,098 1,161
Impairment loss of property, plant ME - BEREEZ
and equipment BIEEE 2,251 2,078
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets & &E 2 REEE 750 885
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W (1,873) -
Operating cash flows before EELESRHARE
movements in working capital HERE (8,257) (11,508)
Changes in working capital: EBEEEE)
Inventories BE 209 (109)
Trade receivables =) AEN 690 (1,003)
Deposits, prepayments and other s ?EH/TAIE\&/H\M
receivables JEWURIE 1,379 6,770
Trade payables ff%f1‘f§h (21) (404)
Accruals and other payables JEET & N A e k0B (792) 1,803
Cash used in operations ,%%%Fﬁﬁﬁfﬁi (6,792) (4,451)
Tax paid EATHIE - -
Net cash used in operating activities E& ZEFFAREFHE (6,792) (4,451)
Cash flows from investing activities REEZHERESHRE
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEHTEB AT
subsidiaries WEMAFER 34 1,181 -
Deposits paid for acquisition of WM - BREREZHEZ
property, plant and equipment BfRre (1,800) -
Purchases of property, plant and BEYE  BEKE&E
equipment (4,724) (1,937)
Net cash used in investing activities REFEFTAREFE (5,343) (1,937)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2024 #, 2202438318 I EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE THET FHET
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZHRESARE
Proceeds from shares issued upon RIRERZEITIRM 2
placing g sIa 26(e) 10,263 2,954
Transaction costs attributable to RECER I TIRID FE(E 2
shares issued upon placing R 26(e) (310) (88)
Proceeds from shares issued upon E/\@EH&H%%’%-}HQ@Z
rights issue s 26(d) 20,607 -
Transaction costs attributable to EN?EHxHqﬁ‘ﬁH%ﬁJEE{EZ
shares issued upon rights issue R KA 26(d) (1,692) -
Payments of lease liabilities HEBERK (5,598) (6,063)
Interest paid ERFE (1,086) 271
Inception of other borrowings g E b &R 1,500 6,500
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMER (6,500) (1,500)
Increase in amount due to non- JE < FEVE AR M 2 SR IE S AN
controlling interests 19 1,488
Decrease in amount due from non- JE U FE12E A e 2 R IEDRL
controlling interests - 367
Net cash from financing activities = BEEETER S FE 17,203 3,387
Net increase (decrease) in cash and BEERHELSZEY
cash equivalents MO ) 8 5,068 (3,001)
Cash and cash equivalents at REBINRERAESEEY
beginning of the reporting period 2,729 5,723
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ER e L EFHE
changes, net (1) /
Cash and cash equivalents at end of EMFARERBE
the reporting period, represented &Y 5HER
by cash and bank balances BITEER 7,796 2,729
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

88

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CBK Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 8 September 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
changed from Unit 3005, 30/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
to Room 726, 7/F, Kapok Industrial Building, 373 To Kwa
Wan Road, Kowloon, with effect from 5 July 2024.

The Company's shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Company is an investment holding company and the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the restaurant
operations and sales and processing of food in Hong
Kong. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company, and all amounts are rounded
to the nearest thousands (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

2.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2023 consolidated financial statements except for
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant
to the Group and effective from the current financial
reporting period as detailed in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted
by the Group is set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #, 2202438318 I EE

3.

90

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following
new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

International Tax Reform

— Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies.

The amendments have no effect on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8: Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #, 2202438318 I EE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12: Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that
it no longer applies to transactions that, on recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Amendments to HKAS 12: International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

The amendments provide entities with temporary
relief from accounting for deferred taxes arising from
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development’s Pillar Two model rules. The amendments
also introduce targeted disclosure requirements to help
investors understand an entity’s exposure to income taxes
arising from the rules.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

3.

92

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

*  has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

®  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests
at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the parent had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by
or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial
asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate
from the date when control is lost.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair value
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are principally recognised at
their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets and
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 at the acquisition date; and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 are measured in
accordance with that standard.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

3.

EREHRE®)

EBEH

WiE =R AEA AR © X566
ZEBRRERATESE  MAES
FERARBMBRECEE  ARER
WU RBEAE AEE 2 BBERAE
B SRR Ty 2 PRI BT 2 B
BB R AT EERE - BRAKE
ZERRELR RN B ER o

KRB B - FTUE 2 Al BRI B E K
FrEfEz AET BIR A FERER - I
NPT ERRSN

. BEREAERAMREER
RN AEREE
2 RREES REEAIF 125
RESE RIS 19 R L
5

o EHWEET AR AER 2 A
TR 2 HR S DA £R B BT 3L A B AD
REE 2R IS
T AR D R 2T 2 AN R R R AR
Bz AEHBRATATIRKE
HHREBEEBM RS ERE2
SRETE - &

o WRIEFBMBMEERNFESRD
BARELEZEE(KLEM
BDRIBZERGTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at acquisition
date. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests that are initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group
which qualifies as business combination, except for
those acquisitions which qualify as a common control
combination and are therefore accounted for using the
merger accounting.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries
are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period that the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement. A joint arrangement
is an arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control. Joint control is a contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The Group reassesses whether it has joint control of an
arrangement and whether the type of joint arrangement in
which it is involved has changed, if facts and circumstances
change.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Joint ventures (Continued)

The Group's investment in a joint venture is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment or a portion thereof is classified as
held for sale. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter
for the post-acquisition changes in the Group's share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment. Except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses when
the Group's share of losses of the investee equals or
exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in the investee,
which includes any long term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the investee.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after the property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repair
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of the property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of that asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of

assets less their residual values over their useful lives,

using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,

residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at

the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any

changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of
lease terms or 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Catering and other equipment 20%

Machinery and equipment 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which the asset
belongs.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGUs, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated selling price for inventories less
all costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

®  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for trade
receivables from credit card and other electronic payments
and collectively for corporate customers using a provision
matrix with past due status grouping.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the end of the reporting period
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
management of the Group to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, accruals
and other payables, amount due to non-controlling
interests, lease liabilities and interest-bearing borrowings)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control of the good or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the good or service is
transferred over time if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to
a customer.

Revenue from restaurant operations

Revenue from the provision of catering services through
restaurant operations is recognised at a point in time
when the services are rendered. A receivable is recognised
by the Group when the services are rendered to the
customers at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.

Licensing income from restaurant operations is recognised
over the license period.

Revenue from sales and processing of food

Revenue from sales and processing of food is recognised
at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control
of the promised asset, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title is passed.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency HK$ and majority of its subsidiaries used
HK$ as their functional currency, except for the subsidiaries
operated in the PRC which have Renminbi (“"RMB") as their
functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at period-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the Group's
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

e Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate
at the end of the reporting period.

* Income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated
at the average exchange rates.

e All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group's
net investment in a foreign operation are recognised
as a separate component of equity.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation, which
includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation, a disposal involving the loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest is no
longer equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to the foreign
operation that is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the separate component
of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

On the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is re-attributed to
the non-controlling interests in that foreign operation
and are not reclassified to profit or loss.

On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is reclassified to profit
or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidation statement of cash

flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid

investments which are subject to an insignificant risk

of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts (if any). For

classification in the consolidated statement of financial

position, cash equivalents represent assets similar in nature

to cash and which are not restricted as to use.

3. FEEHBE®)

INEIRE ()

o HEBINEBEE  BREEARN
SERNBINERBHEEED -
HE S RREBTERBINER
HO B B A B HOHE B 42 - Sk
HEREBINETNEE R
S S R R MBS SR
a T BEEREAR - BHEZ
BINRIE R E AR S WA K
R ERREARNBELIEAN R
AHERZRAASIREEEE
REHDEEES -

s HOHMEAKRBRBEEEINE
B(UESAEBRREHWBER
AR I ) BOBT 8 A Bl MR
5 - IR B3 E IR R A (8 5
MOERNEN ZBRATTE
SEMDOBREXBINEBRSE
ZiiERE  MASEFHRE

= Nz
1825 o

o SFMBEMISLE(BEID
HEBBEAREASELEMD
BYARKEREEATE N
HFZEIRE) - WL B DA
P E R D MRV E L Z 8
RiteBeEH O AERH

RERREEEY
MEERERERME @ HEFEY
REEZ(CRRB 2B RE T
L& WHIRRIRTTES (WA) ° Biéz
BUBIRKRZDEME  REFE
WIS FERSBRUERE TR
IRFBIMEE

BRI AR A F /2024 FER 113



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

3.

114

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, machinery and
equipment that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

3.

FEETHER®E

HE

HENER

i & 4 R BREVE M4 T2 —ERHIRE
MEHI AT BRI B E R AR - RIRX

BHRHEREEHE -

AR B R E A B Hisk 2 1R ET S s iE R
IXRBAFHELENAOME - AEE
REBEVHBRESEANFE16HRNTE
ENRFG  ERAHIRBERR (R
ERE)FHEEHNREATHENRES
HE °&%3Eé§%ﬁﬂ%?&l§ﬂ%?¥ﬁé}i?§¥i
2 BRIBREAKOKATERTG -

REEEREBA

DEREZE B KA E

B HEEEMH &*Ei%ﬁ%
%ﬁfﬁ#ﬂfﬁ&%“mAﬁﬁ
= ARBESREHEEENEDHIE
BB ER KPR E AR E D ML
ERERHAORESEESTHEHEA

SN

5 -

%?

AEBEAATREINATEIFEE
ARy ERFE B EB D B - A
HEAKER &Eﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂf@ﬂ
MAERE—HEAXED

FEHHERIBEEEEHE
AEEBEIE MG B RE12EA K
MTHET@?%Eﬁ&%%%%
ez MREHERMEHHE MR
% o HIEEEEERERMER
e  MHMHENMEEEEEMEDN
HENFAEBAIA B SOERER R
¥ o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

®  any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

*  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities
other than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from
Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term is depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

116

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

®  the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the

initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

®  the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;

and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the

circumstances of the particular contract.
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3.

118

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modification (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which the event occurs.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

Retirement benefit obligation scheme

Payment to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers'
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group's contributions to the scheme
are expensed as incurred and vested in accordance with
the scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees leave
the scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer's
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is used
to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the employees of the Group's entities established in the
PRC are required to participate in defined contribution
retirement plans organised by local governments (the
"PRC Retirement Scheme"). Contributions to those plans
are expensed as incurred and other than these monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme and the PRC Retirement Scheme
charged to profit or loss represent contributions paid or
payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the schemes.
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3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in share options reserve in

equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new share or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Government grants

Governments grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
revenue, other gain and loss”.
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3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expenses represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other periods and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For lease transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the Group's consolidated financial statements

in the period in which the dividend is approved by
shareholders of the Company.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's holding company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each holding
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

126

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
holding company of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's holding
company.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of the person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between the Group and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

3.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the

EREHRE®)
ERUBRELENZAREE
RIFEPBHRREREER - ~NKE
WEREFRABTBEAMASCHEM
HERAEARS R R A2 T FIFRRRT 48

current period, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HK
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current !

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants!

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause’

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback !
Lack of Exchangeability 2

Sale or Contribution of

128

and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture 3
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the financial performance and
financial position of the Group.
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4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements above, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test.
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4,

130

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives of the Group's property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar
nature and functions. The depreciation expenses for future
periods are adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

(CREOLEESE 3:0E -2
(#&)

% BERRBUREREER
ENERFH
AEEEEERBEHEUEE KI6E
MEEEEERERFHNBER
B BEAKBEYE - WEL&REN
REREEENGHERFH - i
ZAfEET AL EEAE(E - RlgHE
RIREAFEI I ERIST

EAEBIEE E

fie RE R Bt g ) R RS Al N E S =
BMATBAARBAREEE - Rlgnt
AT E R 8 S R B A R S 1R
RIEETHIBEE - BEE A TIARERH
ELERBEES R - BEEARE
R IR EER A 4 1| P BE H1 3R A BRF ] Se 7K
FERARRBBGREI R IELEXRH
B o

ERTH
(a) £mMIAEH

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
Financial assets, R H AT B
at amortised cost TREE
Trade receivables g 5 RWRIE 1,966 2,657
Deposits and other receivables e R H A FEYGRIA 4,379 4,141
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFED 7,796 2,729
Financial liabilities, R HR AT B
at amortised cost TRaE
Trade payables g 5 ENRIE 1,442 1,500
Accruals and other payables FEAT & A M H A FE 1~ 518 6,277 7,787
Amount due to non-controlling JE < FE 2R AR e 2 K IE
interests 433 1,962
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,576 7,290
Interest-bearing borrowings STEMER - 5,000
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, amounts due to non-controlling interests,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing borrowings.
Details of the financial instruments for the Group are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The directors of the Company
manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the
Group's exposure in respect of financial instruments
or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risks.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances. The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances
and Hong Kong prime rate. No sensitivity analysis
was prepared for bank balances and interest-bearing
borrowings as the financial impact arising on changes
in interest rates was minimal due to limited changes
in interest rate and interest-bearing borrowings
carry at fixed interest rate. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

5. I E%E)
(b) ¢REAREERNREE

AEBNETESHTABREER
5 W I8 Eé&ﬁ@ﬁ%
FIE -ReKBEEEYD

Z T EIE - fﬁ%%&ﬁm

RSB © A IR AR
H AEAERIAERK - A

SEBTANFBRENE
BfR A ISR M

HZESR T AEREEREE
EmsRR(FXRR)  F8
B Kom B & & B R o R Rz
ZRBEZHEHEN T - AR
REFHRERBETEER
ER - BRURFAERZAR
BITHEEER -

AEEFFREBIARRY
BENEER R EAMAR
2R EEE) -

™ i Rk
e
REEHEGEY BIRITERE
AR REMNEKEE - N&E
EmBEenENEXREREES
RERITERNE R EBRE
BN ERE - AN EZEEH
FE&aJrgfﬁtthlE?'Jﬁ_qu
S NMEXBEFERNMETE
B - MO MR IRTTAS
NEt BB RRBEGUREDN -
AN B B AT &N 5 R
TR AEBEEREEE
MERRE  THERETERZE
EERE RN R o

Bl A BR A B /2024 FER 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group'’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits, other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Trade receivables

The Group provided catering services to a large
number of individual customer and are mainly settled
by cash and credit card. In the view of the Group's
restaurant operations, the Group's trade receivables
are primarily credit card trade receivables due from
credit card acquiring service providers, mainly banks.

For sales and processing of food business and
licensing income from restaurant operations, the
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, debtor balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's

exposure to bad debts is being managed.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customer operates and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise if the
Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At 31 March 2024, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 50.8% (2023: 92.7%)
of the Group's trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest customer in relation to sales and
processing of food business. The Group manages
the concentration of credit risk by continuously

broadening the customer base of the Group.

The directors of the Company consider the credit
risk in relation to catering services business, licensing
income from restaurant operations and sale and

processing of food business are insignificant.

Deposits and other receivables

The management of the Group makes periodic
collective assessment as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also available reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The
management of the Group believes that there is
no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment

based on 12m ECL.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group deposited its cash with approved and
reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the
banks may cause the Group'’s right with respect to
cash and cash equivalents held to be delayed or
limited. The directors of the Company monitor the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and
considers that the Group's exposure to credit risk

were minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, no expected credit loss
allowance on the Group's trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
was recognised as the potential allowance amounts

are insignificant.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate cash and cash equivalents, monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and financial

liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by
the management of Group. The management of the
Group will raise bank borrowings whenever necessary.

The following table shows the details of the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date, on which
the Group can be required to pay. The amounts

5. €@MIHEE)
(b) LEEKREEBNRIK

(#&)
REE AR

HETAR

HERBHERITER -

disclosed in the table are based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, are as follows:

®

AEFB@FRENRE MRS
FEY ERFIEERAES
MENREHEREENT R

BEMNIHBER - EAEER

AEEEREEREERRPE
TRE - AERETEEHNE

TRETAKEFTESHEA
ERE TN EOZPBERFS -
ZEFEERRBEAEBERRAE
AEHESRAENRREIRE
TRERE - TRIAIRETH
AB HIARBERN FURELE -

More than
Effective Within 1 year but Total
interest  1yearor lessthan undiscounted  Carrying
rate on demand Syears cashflows  amounts
-Rg BB-F AERRE
BRA= REX [EOIREE REAE REE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER FER TER TER
At 31 March 2024 14202434318
Non-derivative financial liabilities T4 RERE
Trade payables BARNTE 1,442 - 1,442 1,442
Accruals and other payables [EtE R LA ER A 6,277 = 6,277 6,277
Amount due to non-controlling (IR R B
interests 433 - 433 433
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.36% 3,967 755 4,722 4,576
12,119 755 12,874 12,728
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. $@MIAWWm)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cRIEAMREERNREE
policies (Continued) (#8)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E)
More than
Effective Within -~ 1 year but Total
interest  Tyearor  lessthan undiscounted  Carrying
rate ondemand Syears  cashflows  amounts

—FR% BE-F AREHRE
ERAE Bk EIREEF  RERE  BEE
%  HKF000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TR TR AT TER

At 31 March 2023 M2023F3A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3ETE4BERE
Trade payables B ENTR 1,500 - 1,500 1,500
Accruals and other payables it BRAREMENTIE 7,787 - 7,787 7,787
Amount due to non-controlling W‘HH’LM SRR
interests 1,962 - 1,962 1,962
Lease liabilities HEAR 530 4,197 3397 7,594 7290
Interest-bearing borrowings SBER 41.00 5,547 - 5,547 5,000
20,993 3,397 24,390 23,539
(c) Fair value of financial assets and financial (c) YHZRAFEFENESHME
liabilities that are not measured at fair value ERcsmAEsEN A ATE
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 20244 ) 2023F3H31 8 - 1%
liabilities carried at amortised cost were not materially BIENAAERNEREERS
different from their fair values at 31 March 2024 and BEENEEEEEAFEY
2023. BEXER -
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amounts of dividend
paid to the shareholders, return on capital to the
shareholders or issue of new shares or repurchase
of existing shares as well as issue of new debts or

redemption of existing debts.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. The Group's overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior years.

5. €@MIHEE)
(d) EXREE

AEBEAEENEZARER
BRAEHEAGRERLZHE
7 BEFRISREERLE
NXFBEEB R BB RAER
RiEE-

AEEREEERAREEME
HEHENGEBAFHHAE - KN
SEAABRN TERRAKE
T8 REERTRRIET
¥ {7 2k 88 [0 3R A At A B 3
THEERBE@REEBAE
R BEANER -

N SJE BB RS IR (bl
ZEREBFR - REBERERRE
RRELAEFEL EER

Bl A BR A B /2024 FER 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20243A831HILEE

6.

138

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. It is analysed by different operating
divisions and geographical locations. The geographical
locations of customers is based on the location at which
the service was provided. No operating segments
identified by the executive directors of the Company have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of
the Group. Particulars of the Group's reportable operating
segments are summarised as follows:

() restaurant operations in Hong Kong; and
(i) sales and processing of food in Hong Kong.

The management of the Group makes decisions according
to operating results of each segment. No analysis of
segment asset and segment liability is presented as the
management of the Group does not regularly review such
information for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

Segment results represent the results before tax earned
by each segment without allocation of certain other
revenue, other gain and loss, certain gain on disposal of
subsidiaries, central corporate expenses and finance costs.

Non-current assets are all located in Hong Kong at 31
March 2024 and 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, sales to an external
customer from sales and processing of food amounted
to approximately HK$3,715,000 (2023: approximately
HK$4,202,000) which individually contributed over 10% of
total revenue of the Group.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments.

Year ended 31 March 2024

6. DEER(E)
DI EREE
AT RS B2 808 J AT ok 5 8
53 MO WS B2 AT -

BZ2024F3A31HLLEE

Sales and
Restaurant processing
operations of food Consolidated
EEEE HEINIRA Rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THx TR
Segment revenue iRl 6
External segment revenue HNER D BB 19,373 5,992 25,365
Segment results PIEE (5,817) (1,521) (7,338)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HEHBA Rz Wz 97
Unallocated other revenue, AOBEEMMBA -
other gain and loss Hit s REE 140
Unallocated central corporate ROBRREERS
expenses (11,505)
Unallocated finance costs AARBEKA (787)
Loss before tax B AIEE (19,393)
Income tax expenses B -
Loss for the year EREE (19,393)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE2023F3A31HIEFE
Sales and
Restaurant processing
operations of food Consolidated
EE2E HERNIRM CEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT AL
Segment revenue okl G
External segment revenue ANER S EP U S 24,428 5,612 30,040
Segment results DEfELE (10,478) (3,697) (14,175)
Unallocated other revenue, AOBEEMUBA
other gain and loss Hit e REHE 258
Unallocated central corporate AOEHREERT
expenses (10,382)
Unallocated finance costs ROBRBEKA (676)
Loss before tax BRERIER (24,975)
Income tax expenses SRR -
Loss for the year FENEE (24,975)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)
Other segment information Hitbp B &EH

Year ended 31 March 2024

B ZE2024F3HA31HLLEE

Sales and
Restaurant processing
operations of food Unallocated ~ Consolidated
EEEE HERNMIRE AAE &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET TR
Additions to property, NEME  BEREZE
plant and equipment 4,069 - 655 4,724
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEFFEEE 2,120 - 2,454 4,574
Depreciation TE 6,905 1,128 1,224 9,257
Finance costs BERA 306 5 787 1,098
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HEMBA ]2 Kz 1,776 = 97 1,873
Impairment loss on property, %% « BEL&EL
plant and equipment REER 1,652 599 - 2,251
Impairment loss on (FREEE 2 RERE
right-of-use assets 750 - - 750
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE2023F3A3NRIEFE
Sales and
Restaurant processing
operations of food Unallocated ~ Consolidated
ZB2E HERNMIRM AAR Gh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TBT FAL FAT
Additions to property, REME  BEREE
plant and equipment 1,846 1 80 1,937
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEFFIEEE 4,039 - - 4,039
Depreciation E 5,401 2,613 1,484 9498
Finance costs BA R R 440 25 676 1,161
Impairment loss on property, ~ ¥1% * BERREZ
plant and equipment REEE 1435 643 - 2,078
Impairment loss on ERREE REER
right-of-use assets 831 54 - 885
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7.

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

7. W&

BEFERHWEDF

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FABT
Restaurant operations in Hong Kong REBZEEE

Provision of catering services B IRE 18,473 24,428
Licensing income BN 900 -
19,373 24,428

Sales and processing of food REBHER
in Hong Kong MIBR 5,992 5,612
25,365 30,040
2024 2023
20244 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Timing of revenue recognition Wz tESRIF BT
At a point in time A —{ERF B 24,465 30,040
Over time BE RS 900 -
25,365 30,040

All revenue for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
were derived from Hong Kong.

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Details of performance obligations for contracts with
customers for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are
set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Restaurant operations and sales and processing of food
in Hong Kong are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

REE20244F % 2023F3B31H IEF
B FTERRBELEEEE -

EFEHNNBENER

BRAE £ 20245 & 2023F3H318 1k
FERFPAHAMNBAHEETFBHNE
B IS ERERMIFES ©

TREFFENRBRNBENEE
ZR 5B

REBEREEMFELNTRM S
HI—F g AT - REBBWHMEE
RIBISSRATART - WARBBEDBLEZ
FRTEXNANZZHER -
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8. OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAIN AND LOSS 8. HMWA » Hit s REE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Government subsidies (Note) AT e b (B ET) - 984
Exchange loss, net P& 5 B8 558 (6) -
Covid-19 related rent concessions FR SR REAEEESER - 155
Gain on lease modification HEEIT W 347 -
Others Hi 815 717
1,156 1,856
Note: FisE
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government HZE2023F3ANBIFE - AEEFHA
subsidies of approximately HK$984,000 in respect of Covid-19-related 7 A T8 55 75 9 47 B TE SR BT 7 b 49984,0007%5
subsidies. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, there was no TC o NAREERA - BUT K E 0B &K
unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the government and other BRI A ETE o
subsidies.
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. RERA
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 51 BAE K FIE 719 638
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGERNE 379 523
1,098 1,161
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10. LOSS BEFORE TAX 10. BRBIATES 1B
This is stated after charging: BRI AT ET B Jh R FOBR A T & IH 12 5
iE -

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Employee benefit expenses EEEANBEX(BEGREME

(including directors’ emoluments BERME1NMNZEEHME) :
in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements):

Salaries, allowances, bonuses and e EEL - TEANEYRET

benefits in kind 11,244 12,490
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 169 246
Contributions to defined contribution BE M IUERET 2

retirement plan 323 412

11,736 13,148

Other items: Hib1g g :
Auditor's remuneration 1% BX B 57 B

— Audit service — IZ B R 760 820

— Non-audit services — IR BRTE 170 15
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 11,328 12,987
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - R REREITE

equipment 5,142 5,040
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 4,115 4,458
Short-term lease payments FEHENRK 598 21
Low-value assets lease payments KEEBEEHENK 86 89
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11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 1. ESFHMH

The remuneration of the directors of the Company were RARIESHMES AT -
set out below:

Year ended 31 March 2024 HZE2024F3R31HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances, benefits
Directors'  and benefits  Discretionary  Share-based scheme
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
#5 2ER DY RHER

£k BEH MiEd  EEZAR At B a5t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn T TiEn

Executive directors: HAEE

Mr. Chow Yik (Note (K) R (HEK) 520 - - - = 520
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak BKEEE 360 5 - - - 360
Mr. He Zhiwei (Note (q) SRR () 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Zheng Haoze (Note () iz (h) 14 - - - - 14

Independent non-executive directors:  BU#H/EE -

Ms. Lau Man Kei (Note (c) EEvas(iR]W) 120 = - - - 120
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam (Note (e) FRERE () 72 5 - - - 72
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung (Note (f) BB () 9 - - - - 91
Mr. Yue Dinglong (Note (1) ERErL (M) 40 - - - - 40
Mr. Zhang Yuhao (Note () g (k) 48 - - - - 48

1,385 - - - - 1,385
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11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued)

1. EBFM @)

Year ended 31 March 2023 EIZ2023F3A31H ILFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances, benefits
Directors'  andbenefits ~ Discretionary ~ Share-based scheme
fees inkind bonuses payments  contributions Total
ie BER R RIrER|
EET U B ML ERZAR ARl Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
T T T T Thn Tin
Executive directors: HiEE.
Mr. Chan Lap Ping (Note (a) BT (FEEa) - il - - 15 786
Mr. Chow Yik Blrs 480 - - - - 480
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak fRkERE 30 - - - - 30
Ms. Ho Oi Kwan (Note (b) AEERL(MEHD) 73 - - - - 73
Independent non-executive directors: B U#H77EE
Ms. Lau Man Kei (Note (c)) st (M0) 15 - - - - 15
Ms. Wong Syndia D (Note () THBRt (i) 76 - - - - 76
Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam (Note (g)) ERERENEE) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Kwan Yung (Note (f) BRiyE k& (k) 120 - - - - 120
1,34 i - - 15 2130
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11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

146

(a)

Mr. Chan Lap Ping has tendered the resignation as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 3 January 2023.

Ms. Ho Oi Kwan has tendered the resignation as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 20 December 2022.

Ms. Lau Man Kei has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 16 February
2023.

Ms. Wong Syndia D has tendered the resignation as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 17 November 2022.

Mr. Chong Alex Tin Yam has tendered the resignation as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 6 November 2023.

Mr. Chan Kwan Yung has tendered the resignation as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 2 January 2024.

Mr. He Zhiwei has been appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 1 December 2023. Mr. He Zhiwei has
tendered the resignation as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 3 May 2024.

Mr. Yue Dinglong has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 December
2023. Mr. Yue Dinglong has been re-designated as an executive
director and succeeded Mr. Chow Yik as the Chairman with effect
from 3 May 2024. Mr. Yue Dinglong has resigned as an executive
director of the Company and the Chairman with effect from 10 July
2024.

Mr. Zheng Haoze has been appointed as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 23 January 2024. Mr. Zheng Haoze
has tendered the resignation as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 4 March 2024.

Mr. Zhang Yuhao has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect 6 November 2023.
Mr. Zhang Yuhao has resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 10 July 2024.

Mr. Chow Yik has retired as the Chairman with effect from 3 May
2024 and continues to be an executive director of the Company.
Mr. Chow Yik has been appointed as the Chairman replacing Mr.
Yue Dinglong with effect from 10 July 2024.
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11.

12.

DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (Continued) 1. EBFM (&)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors KRB E20244F 2023 F3H31HIEF
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining & AEBERER AR RES ST
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during & ERNMAREESIRMAREER
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. None of the R REN S EABEREE - REZE
directors of the Company has waived or agreed to waive 2024 ) 2023F3 AN B IEFE - #f
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2024 BANRESDMEXREREEM
and 2023. B o
No share options were granted to the directors of the REVE20245F 220233 A31H IEF
Company during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. B WERAQNREEE D BRRE -
Details of share options granted to the directors of the REZE2022F3A31BIEFE - MA
Company during the year ended 31 March 2022 were set NAEERHERENSHNGS
out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. PSRRI 32
Except as disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated BRéR & B TS IR&RMI s 28 PR ER & A1 -
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements RS BAR SR B 20244F [ 20234F
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its AR IEFERNEAERE - A28
ultimate holding company, or any subsidiaries of its EEWMERLRRF] - ERLIZERAF
ultimate holding company was a party and in which a s H ST A R AR B A F)ET
director of the Company had a material interest, whether NZEMBARS AP E
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting B R EAEAAER -
periods or at any time during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12. TEBREFHNES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during REZE2024F3A3NBIEFE - A%
the year ended 31 March 2024 include one (2023: two) EhE&EHMESBFE—% (2023
directors, whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 11 F HE)ESES  HMEWEBENES
to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the B mERMIFEN - #iE2024F3 A 31
emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2024 of the HIEFE#R TR (2023%F - =5)&%
remaining four (2023: three) highest paid employees who SEHMNEE (WIEARFES)WEE
are not director of the Company are as follows: I
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 ~ 284 R EWEF 2,438 1,802
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 60 59
Contributions to defined contribution  FREMHFGRIRGTEI 5K
retirement plan 56 46
2,554 1,907
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12.

13.

148

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) 12. AEEEFHMES (&)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not FHNFATHEN &= ZMWES
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell (WIEARRFESE) ABIAT -
within the following bands is as follows:
2024 2023

20245 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 4 3
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no B ZE 20244 }22023F3 A31 A IEF
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above [ - AREE A L E A A A
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the B - ERMAREBEININARSE
Group or as compensation for loss of office. = ) R SR BB ME -
INCOME TAX EXPENSES 13. FiBRiMAX

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the Group
incurred a loss for taxation purposes.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a statutory rate of 25%. No
provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
for both years as the Group had no assessable profits in
the PRC for the year ended 31 March 2024 and incurred
a loss for taxation purposes for the year ended 31 March
2023.
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 13. FREHBE X (40)
Reconciliation of income tax expenses FrSBiBXHER
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Loss before tax BR7y A E 18 (19,393) (24,979)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BREBNSHTE16.5%
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (2023%F - 16.5% )5t E®ITIA (3,200) (4,121)
Tax effect of: WA E -
Different tax rates of subsidiaries FREMD R AR AR
operating in other jurisdictions B ARz TR R (10) (76)
Expenses not deductible for AR
tax purpose 1,175 1,250
Income not taxable for tax purpose FERRF UL A (387) (229)
Unrecognised temporary differences RIERERF =58 954 970
Tax losses not recognised REERTIEE 1S 1,468 2,206
Income tax expenses FT{SHiR X - -
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14. LOSS PER SHARE

The computations of basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the
following data:

14. BREE

ZAYN Ti‘éf&ﬁ/\ﬁﬁtﬂxﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁfé%
BTN E

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
Loss EE
Loss for the year attributable to RNARIER AR
owners of the Company FNEE (24,595) (22,227)
2024 2023
20245 20234
Numbers of shares R#HEE
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FIR st E G EAR K
shares for the purposes of calculating  #&&18 2 L@ N
basic and dilutive loss per share FE 8 E 81,078,969 26,067,457

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share did not assume
the exercise of the outstanding share options since the
exercise price per share option was higher than the
average share price of the Company for both years.

The number of shares for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 has reflected the effect of share consolidation
and rights issue completed on 20 July 2022 and 14 June
2023, respectively, which are set out in Note 26(a) and
Note 26(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERZRE

Catering
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements and fixtures equipment Total
HENEEE BARETEE SURHLRE H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT TET TET
Cost A
At 1 April 2022 M2022F4A1H 12,740 2,614 6,102 21,456
Additions NE 1,700 146 91 1,937
At 31 March 2023 and R2023%F38318 %

1 April 2023 2023F4RA1H 14,440 2,760 6,193 23,393
Additions NE 3,963 342 419 4,724
Written off biigis = = (85) (85)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBAT

(Note 34(a)) (P £E34(a)) (5,845) (1,960) (1,011) (8,816)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%35831H 12,558 1,142 5,516 19,216
Accumulated depreciation Rt HERAE

and impairment
At 1 April 2022 202264 A18 3997 454 5,480 9,931
Charge for the year FRHEY 4,208 498 334 5,040
Impairment loss AEER 1,873 205 - 2,078
At 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A318 R

1 April 2023 2023F4R1H 10,078 1,157 5,814 17,049
Charge for the year FARY 4,376 383 383 5,142
Written off sy = = (85) (85)
Impairment loss FIBER 1,174 214 863 2,251
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHBAR

(Note 34(a)) (M7E34(a)) (4,507) (817) (2,051) (7,375)
At 31 March 2024 12024538310 11,121 937 4,924 16,982
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3R31H 1,437 205 592 2,234
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3H318 4,362 1,603 379 6,344
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15.

152

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

In light of the current unfavorable market conditions,
the directors of the Company considered that property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the
Group relating to the restaurant operations and sales
and processing of food business at 31 March 2024 and
2023 might be impaired. In view of this, the directors
of the Company estimated the recoverable amounts of
each cash-generating unit as the higher of the fair value
less costs of disposal and the value in use of the cash-
generating unit based on the valuation reports prepared
by an independent professional valuer.

The directors of the Company estimated the recoverable
amount of each cash generating unit with reference to a
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the directors of the
Company covering a 3-year period or up to the end of the
lease term whichever is shorter to be derived from each
cash-generating unit. The estimation of future cash flows
are discounted to its present value using a pre-tax discount
rate of approximately 13.39% (2023: approximately
15.03%). Another significant input applied in the value
in use calculation of each cash generating unit of the
restaurant operations is table turnover rate for projection
of revenue.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)  15. ¥1% - BMERRE (&)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Based on the assessment, impairment loss of
approximately HK$599,000 (2023: approximately
HK$643,000) and no impairment loss (2023: impairment
loss of approximately HK$54,000) were recognised in
respect of the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets relating to sale and processing of food
business for the year ended 31 March 2024, respectively. In
addition, impairment loss of approximately HK$1,652,000
(2023: approximately HK$1,435,000) and approximately
HK$750,000 (2023: approximately HK$831,000) were
recognised in respect of the property, plant and

W - BERRKBURERES
EREE)

BIEFTEL - REZE2024F38318 1+
FE - pEEERNTRBESES
MY BEREEAREBES
E 7 B\ e SRR (B B 18 49 599,000/ 7T
(20234F : #9643,000,& ) N R E
518 (20237F - J5 {8 718 #754,000,%
L) o WM RELZE2024F3 H31H
IEFE - BHEEESERENYE -
55 Ko 55 A LA I {58 FRAE & 7 9 B FE AR
SEE B 18 491,652,0005 7T (20234 -
#71,435,000;% 7T ) X #7750,0007% 7T

equipment and right-of-use assets relating to the (20234 - #9831,000;87T)
restaurant operations for the year ended 31 March 2024,

respectively.

MIRERSEEEMA A WE S
K B HERIRE R R ARt -

Following is the summary of the recoverable amount
of each cash generating unit and the impairment loss
recognised:

At 31 March 2024 M2024%3H31H

Carrying
amount of
property,
plant and Impairment
equipment and loss
right-of-use Recoverable recognised
Cash generating unit Operating segment assets amount for the year
nE - BER
REUARER FRERR
REELEN g BEENRAE TREEH HEBR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL FET
Honour Star Enterprises Limited Restaurant operations 3,329 927 2,402
("Honour Star")
BECEAERRA(EE]) ZE2E
Moly Power Limited (“Moly Power") Restaurant operations 2,343 2,575 Nil
BHERRA([#n]) ZEZE g
Quick Success Holding Limited Sales and processing of 774 175 599

("Quick Success”) food

REEREBRRR(HE]) HEMNIR®
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15.

16.

154

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)  15. #)% + lERR#E (@)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and ME - BRERBEURGEHES
right-of-use assets (Continued) EREE)
At 31 March 2023 72023F3H31H
Carrying
amount of
property,
plant and Impairment
equipment and loss
right-of-use Recoverable recognised
Cash generating unit Operating segment assets amount for the year
nE - WER
R R FAEER
ReEEs gen EEENREE QLN ER: BEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THL
Success Reach Holding Limited Restaurant operations 5,269 4,135 1,134
("Success Reach”)
KACERRBRAR([RE]) ZE2E
Character Creative Asia Limited Restaurant operations 1,132 Nil 1,132
("Character Creative”)
glEEMERAR(AIE]) ZE2E z
Moly Power Restaurant operations 4,326 4,651 Nil
wh ZELE z
Quick Success Sales and processing of 2,599 1,902 697
food
Rz HERMIRm
LEASES 16. HE

The Group has entered into lease contracts for certain
of its office premises, restaurant properties and food
processing factory. Leases for leased properties are for a
period of one to three years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.
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16. LEASES (Continued)

16. HE(#)

(i) Right-of-use assets iy FREEE
The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets AEBEMFERAEEERERER
and the movements during the years are as follows: FRNEEMT -
Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 A1 H 5,547
Additions NG 4,039
Depreciation e (4,458)
Impairment loss BIEEE (885)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 M2023%F3A31HK
2023%F4R18 4,243
Additions NE 4,574
Depreciation e (4,115)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(a)) HE— B AR (MHiE34(@a)) (588)
Impairment loss (Note 15) B EE (BEE15) (750)
At 31 March 2024 7"2024%3H831H 3,364
2024 2023
20244 2023F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Total cash outflow for leases (Remark) TR EIR & i H 4858 (1E7T) 6,281 6,173
Remark: Amount includes payments of principal and interest #i - REBEHEEENTE RFE

portion of lease liabilities, short-term lease payments and
low-value assets lease payments. These amounts could
be presented in operating or financing cash flows.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

o - REEEN KRR IEE
EEERENR - ZFZBARN
REIMERTRETET

BEEFBIHN LGS MR
RUIEE15 ©
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (%)
(i) Lease liabilities (iiy HEAE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Lease liabilities payable: RUTHEEAEESE :

Within one year —F K 3,827 3,993

More than one year but A —FE T HBARE
not exceeding two years 749 2,866

More than two years but M BT BIR T F
not exceeding five years - 431
4,576 7,290

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates

FE A TR 2 0 2 A0 T 49 1

applied to lease liabilities range from approximately EERENENFLS24%ZER
5.24% to approximately 5.73% (2023: approximately 5.73% (2023 : #)5.24% Z #J
5.24% to approximately 5.32%) per annum. 5.32%) °
17. INVENTORIES 17. 7&
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TBTT
Food and beverage, and BYERERR N H A B B L &
other operating items for FIREBBE LR M
restaurant operations and TR
food processing business 27 236
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. ESEINRIE
For the restaurant operations business, there is no credit MEBSEXBMS - MEMRERE
period granted to individual customer except for a food PEEEEH  HEEHR30BH—

delivery agent with credit term of 30 days. The settlement
terms of credit card and other electronic payment

acquiring service providers are usually within 7 days after

the service rendered date.

For licensing income, the Group with its licensee is mainly
on credit basis and the credit period is mainly 30 days.
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For food processing business, the Group with its trade
debtors is mainly on credit basis and the credit period is
mainly 90 days (2023: 90 days).

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables

18.

BZEBWFEE )

MEMNTEEMS  AEEEEE
SEBATEHRATEEA#ET M
SEHFEA90H (2023%F  0H) -

//////

AT RIZEZHEE5E 5 RKFIR

presented based on the invoice date: HIBRER D AT -
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
0 - 30 days 0£30H 208 396
31 - 60 days 31260H - 323
61 -90 days 61290H 1,732 -
90 — 180 days 902 180H 17 1,050
Over 180 days HBiE180H 9 888
1,966 2,657

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables

AT A28 H B2 5| e E 5 e UK

presented by due date: HHRREC DT -
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET TBTT
Not past due AR Hp 206 372
Less than 1 month past due BEANEIE A 2 24
1 to 2 months past due B A1 2216 A - 323
2 to 3 months past due BHEI2Z=3(E A 1,732 -
3 to 6 months past due HHI3E 61 A 17 1,050
Over 6 months past due %60 BB R 6 A 9 888
1,966 2,657

Details of expected credit loss assessment are set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

EREE B R A ITENER

FRMIEES

BRI AR A F /2024 FER

B
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19. NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT DEPOSITS,

19. JRENHIR EIIIRE - AR

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES & H fth fE R IE
Non-current portion JEBNHEA SR 12
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FABT
Rental deposits HEZS 839 966
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEEZ « BE X
plant and equipment B P« 1,800 -
2,639 966
Current portion BNHA SR 15
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Rental deposits HEZS 705 913
Utility and other deposits ANHEFRENEMIRE 402 1,559
Prepayments AN IR 825 1,009
Other receivables H b e FiIa 633 703
2,565 4,184

Details of expected credit loss assessment are set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

EMEEB RN GFHBTER GRS NS

FRMIFES

20. RERBEEEY

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Cash and bank balances B MB1T4 % 7,796 2,729

RITRESIRF ARG B RF RN L
OBV B EERIFZIRIT

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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21. TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables

21. BEZENFE
AT RREREHZINE SRR

presented based on the invoice date: BHRREC DT -
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET TETT
0- 30 days 0%30H 1 728
31 - 60 days 31260H - 661
61 —90 days 61290H - 99
Over 90 days A0 H 1,441 12
1,442 1,500

The average credit period granted by suppliers are usually
within 30 days.

22. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

HEBR TN FEEERRER30H

A

o

22. EErEARHEMENRE

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

TExT AT

Accruals JEETE A 5,615 6,750
Other payables H 508 562 670
Interest payable FERR B = 367
Provision for reinstatement cost (BB AR 100 -
6,277 7,787

23. AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

23. BB FERER

bt

Rl

o

BRI AR A F /2024 FER
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24.

25.

160

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. T EER
At the end of the reporting period, the interest-bearing RIREER - EERTBERINT
borrowings were repayable as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Unsecured L5 - 5,000
At 31 March 2023, the interest-bearing borrowings in 20233318 + & 5,000,000/
aggregate of HK$5,000,000 were unsecured, carried fixed TTRET B fE R AR B E R .):EEL
effective interest rates ranging from approximately 30% to BRE N ENFLKI30% EHI48% » BT
approximately 48% per annum and were repayable within —FAEE /H\‘:PZ,OOO,OOO/%TEE’JE
one year, of which a loan of HK$2,000,000 was guaranteed AR RNTI N RABIRIEEER o 5T
by the Company and the ex-chairman of the Company. %?7\5’\@:1:2024$3)5] BB IEFE
The interest-bearing borrowings were fully settled during %%(%nﬁ
the year ended 31 March 2024.
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25. BEHREER
The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised ERRBLEHIBRELESHOT
and movements thereon:
2024 2023
2024%F 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
At the beginning and the end of the RS B R HEAR
reporting period 111 111
At 31 March 2024, the Group has unused estimated 202434318 - AEBKREAM

tax losses of approximately HK$77,585,000 (2023:
approximately HK$75,508,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the unused estimated tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams and unrecognised
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$9,600,000 (2023: approximately HK$7,755,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
2024 2023
2024 2023
No. of shares Amount  No. of shares Amount
RHEE 8 RHER &8
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T TAT T TAEL
Authorised: EE
At the beginning of the year REF] 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (Note (a)) WRin &6 (Hizta) - = (9,666,667) -
Sub-divided (Note (b)) FA D) = = 9,666,667 -
At the end of the year REXR 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER
At the beginning of the year Y] 15,552 156 388,800 3,888
Share consolidation (Note (a)) WRin &6 (k) - = (450,996) -
Capital reduction (Note (b)) RAEIE, (B EE(b)) = = - (4,509)
Placing of new shares (Notes (c), () BE&EHMRIA (HIE(C) * (e) 18,662 186 77,748 777
Issue of shares upon rights issue PMERREE TR D
(Note (d) (Pi3E(d)) 77,758 778 - -
At the end of the year REXR 111,972 1,120 15,552 156
Notes: MIEE -

(@)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting on 18 July
2022, every thirty (30) issued and unissued ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.01 each was consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share of HK$0.30 each effective on 20 July 2022.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at an extraordinary general meeting on 18 July 2022, the
par value of each of the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced from HK$0.30 to HK$0.01 per issued shares by cancelling
the paid up capital to the extent of HK$0.29 each from the capital
and the entire amount of the share premium account of the
Company towards crediting the retained earnings of the Company;
and the authorised but unissued consolidated shares of par value
of HK$0.30 each be sub-divided into thirty (30) new shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each.

BIEAR A FIRER N 202247 A18 B
RERAS HRBNEEAER AR
AIFREECOIB LT =+EOKRE
BITRABITEBRAHA—(REK
E{E0.30 T H & PFiR 0+ 202247
H20B4E5% -

R A R IR E 202247 18 B %
REFRIAE LRBRBIIRAESR Liﬁ
HARRBRIRARBROBEENE
%E$%I$ﬁ#%&ﬁ.ﬂﬁ$(l%%o.29?%ﬁﬁ
B MG ARREREEHTRAZEME
EEH&E%éﬁﬁﬁ@oso&%ﬁu552;%0.01
BT et AR BB ERE » RIS
ﬁﬁow/’émz&mﬁﬂi?"‘ﬁ IS
FHA=ZTEROREFREEONETLZ
D -
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

162

(@

On 17 June 2022, the Company placed a total of 77,748,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.038 per placing share (the “2022
Placing”). Net proceeds of approximately HK$2,866,000 after
deducting direct cost of approximately HK$88,000 were credited
to the Company'’s equity. Details of the 2022 Placing were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 31 May 2022 and 17 June
2022.

On 6 March 2023, the Company proposed to implement the
rights issue on the basis of five rights shares for every one existing
share held on 16 May 2023 (the "Rights Issue”), being the record
date, at the subscription price of HK$0.265 per rights share. The
Rights Issue was approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 3 May 2023. On 14
June 2023, 77,757,995 rights shares, with par value of HK$0.01
each, were issued and allotted under the Rights Issue with net
proceeds of approximately HK$18,915,000 after deducting direct
cost of approximately HK$1,692,000, which were credited to the
Company's equity. Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 6 March 2023, 3 May 2023, 5
June 2023 and 13 June 2023, the Company's circular dated 14 April
2023 and the Company'’s prospectus dated 17 May 2023.

On 9 March 2024, the Company placed 18,661,918 placing shares
at the placing price of HK$0.55 per placing share (the “2024
Placing”). Net proceeds of approximately HK$9,953,000 after
deducting direct cost of approximately HK$310,000 were credited
to the Company’s equity. Details of the 2024 Placing were set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 21 February 2024, 8
March 2024, 19 March 2024, 20 March 2024 and 21 March 2024.
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

27. KRAMBRRARRREEED

(a) ARDTMBARREK

Company
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TExT FET
Non-current asset FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR E = -
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other TR RRIE N H A R W R
receivables 233 78
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEURFI B A BT IE 29 134 2,148
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 4,234 34
4,601 2,260
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals and other payables  fE5+2 A K Hith e~ 28 3,089 2,272
Amounts due to subsidiaries  JENHIB AT HIAE 29 460 916
Interest-bearing borrowings  5HEfE R 24 - 2,000
3,549 5,188
Net current assets (liabilities) RBIEE (8 %&) FE 1,052 (2,928)
Net assets (liabilities) BEE(BE)FE 1,052 (2,928)
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital F& N 26 1,120 156
Reserves i 27(b) (68) (3,084)
Total equity (deficits) R (AL AR 1,052 (2,928)

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 23 July 2024 and are signed on its behalf
by:

Chow Yik
e
Director

EZE

ARBWMBAR KD R20245F7 A
VBHEEESHESIRETIE - WH
MIESERERRE

Tsui Wing Tak
®wKE
Director

EF
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. XA RGBT R R R EE B
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE ()
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Movement of reserves of the Company (b) AT EES
Retained
earnings
Share  Share option (Accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
REEA
Rt aE BRERE (RAES) b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B TR TR T

At 1 April 2022 R2022F4F18 - 1,068 16,314 17,382
Loss and total comprehensive FREEREEEELE

loss for the year - - (27,064) (27,064)
Issue of shares upon placing RECE BT (FE26()

(Note 26(c)) 2177 - - 2177
Transaction costs attributable to shares  REERZ/TROEL XS

issued upon placing (Note 26(c)) KA (BiEE26(c)) (88) - - (88)
Reduction of share capital and BRI R {2 % 1B (P 26(0))

share premium (Note 26(b)) (2,089) - 6,598 4,509
Forfeiture of share options (Note 32) BB (M32) - (356) 35 -
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RNBFIA3NBR

20234718 - 712 (3,796) (3,084)

Loss and total comprehensive loss FREERZABELS

for the year - - (24,888) (24,888)
Issue of shares upon rights issue PMERIE TR (H7E26(d))

(Note 26(d)) 19,829 - - 19,829
Transaction costs attributable to shares ~ RMEIRESETIRIDEE 2% 5

issued upon rights issue (Note 26(d)) B A (B 3526(d)) (1,692) - - (1,692)
Issue of shares upon placing REERETIRG (F1526())

(Note 26(e)) 10,077 - - 10,077
Transaction costs attributable to shares ~ RELERZTRDEE X5

issued upon placing (Note 26(e)) AR (Hi3E26(e) (310) - - (310)
At 31 March 2024 R2024538318 27,904 712 (28,684) (68)
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, during the years, the Group did
not enter into any other material transactions with
related parties.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remuneration as disclosed
in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, is

(a)

(b)

28. EXBEME RS

Brara Mg IR A D T
BE O NEEF R
HABETAEMEMBEARS

AEETZEEABNRM(E
R BMERMENAEE
MESHB)AT :

as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHIT
Salaries, allowances, bonuses and E A= 3 I A
benefit in kind B E T 2,201 2,533
Contributions to defined contribution R EMFUERIKRET 2] 2 45k
retirement plan 20 33
2,221 2,566
(c) Details of the balances with related parties are set out (c) R &N EERNES
in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. BF Rz MI5E23 ©
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 29. B A RIFHE
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RMERARANRN R E i MEEEERN
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set B AREEEHY T
out below:
Issued and
Place/country of fully paid share
incorporation/ capital/registered Proportion of nominal value of paid up and
Name of subsidiary operation Class of share capital issued capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRTR
AL/ HRRE/
WEAREE EEHY /A% REER EER AR R RERTRAEELS TTER

Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
% [ Ef 73
2024 2024 023 023
20245 2024% 0235 A3E

% % % %
Best Honour Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary United State dollars 100 - 100 - Dormant
("BVI") ("US$") 50,000
SEARERAA RERLES ERR 50000570 LEXK
([#BEZES)) ([%x))
Character Creative (Remark) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$24 - 5417 - 5417 Provision of catering
services
BlE(E2) i ERR UET RN
Country Way Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
consultancy services
Bl AR AR i Lk 1007 REERERRE
Full Field Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
REREARAA & gl 10,0007 7C LEXK
Goldy Glory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
SRERRAT i ERR 10,0007 7C LEXH
Harvest Wealth Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
KELEARAA i ERR & LEXH
Honour Star Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100 - 100 Provision of catering
services
B & ERR & RN
Jetech Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100 - 100 Dormant
EEBRARLA i EER 2B LEXH
Kant Supply Chain (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd. ~ PRC Ordinary HK$10,000,000 - - - 100 Investment holding
("Kant Supply Chain") (Note 34(b))
FREEE(RBRAT PE ERR 10,000,007 RERR

([ Eifresg ) (He3ub)
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 29. KB ARFE®)
Issued and
Place/country of fully paid share
incorporation/ capital/registered Proportion of nominal value of paid up and
Name of subsidiary operation Class of share capital issued capital held by the Company Principal activities
BEfTR
AL/ HrRE/
HEAR AR gEHE/EX RHER EMER ARAfEARRERTRARELA IERE

Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
% ) B 73
2024 2024 2023 2023
20245 2024% 0035 203%

% % % %

King Wings Holding Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant

SRERARAT &k Ak 10,0007 TEXH

Moly Power Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100 - 100 Provision of catering
services

BN & il 187 REVERIR

Most Wil Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$640,000 - 100 - 100 Provision of catering
services

EHERLA & gl 640,000 7T REERRH

Quick Success Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Sales and processing of
food

e & Rk 10,0007 RmHERNT

Silver Wings Group Holding Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant

REERERAR & LER 10,0007 72 TEEH

Smart Sino Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$!1 - - - 100 Investment holding

("Smart Sino") (Note 34(b))

RECEARAT(RE]) (E340) HE EER 1ET RERR

Smart Sky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant

ERCERRAR Bl LER iy EEXH

Success Reach (Note 34(a)) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - - - 51 Provision of catering
services and license of
restaurant operation

RAE(HEMa) &k aR 10,0007 7C ROESRBLEARSE
#a

Sunny Days Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant

REARAA &k il & TEEH

Sure Gain Global Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100 - 100 - Investment holding

WERHARAR AERAEE il 157 REER

Venus Holding Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant

SERERAT &k il 10,0007 TEEH
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding during the reporting period or at the end of
the reporting period.

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Remark:

The Group and all non-controlling shareholders of Character Creative
have entered into a share subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”), among others, for the issuance and allotment of certain
new ordinary shares by Character Creative to the Group and one of
the non-controlling shareholders (the "Allotment of Conditional
Shares”) subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions (the “Allotment
Conditions”) as set out in the Subscription Agreement. In the opinion
of the Group's management, the Allotment of Conditional Shares would
not have material impacts on the Group’s existing equity interest of
approximately 54% in Character Creative since it is unlikely the Allotment
Conditions would be fulfilled.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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29. B ARFHE®E)

BUEM B QAR RE AN HEH
RGBT AIETEIMERE S ©

FEUL, FEAST B B 1% B R IE R HEAR
RENMREKREER -

AEE LA EEEIHEBRE RO AR BB
ek ([ FREBHER ) - A BE - AlERAEE
NHEAR SRR R BT R ETHER
B ([EBERERED ) - HRERRE R
A TR ((ERBRE D) - AEEEIRER
& BRECE RN RRIBEEM - BCE A IRIT
B fn 1 & B AR ER BIEH54% R A B
BREARTE -

BREAFEZEREZNEZER
BREFE
TRETHEERIHER RN A S
EFEEMERRFE

interests:
Proportion of
Place/country of ownership interests and
incorporation/ voting rights held by Profit (Loss) allocated Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operation non-controlling interests to non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MM ER0E/ FRRESFGEEERE SEREFERERY
WELREH Bx REREHLA) N (58) it FRER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024% 2003 2024% 20035F 2024% 2003F
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TEL FER TAL
Character Creative Hong Kong 45.83% 45.83% 195 (545) (130) (325)
i B
Success Reach (Note 34(a)) Hong Kong - 49% 5,007 (2,203) - (5,562)
RRE (M 34(a)) B
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is

29. B A RRFHE)
BRARA BRI S AR SR B
BRI HERRERIIAT - LA

set out below. The summarised financial information below THBEEREREERNESHEATND
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. I
Character Creative y=1EE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Current assets mENVEE 308 1,328
Non-current assets ERBEE - -
Current liabilities mBaE (482) (1,927)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (111) (111)
Equity attributable to owners of RAREER AEHER
the Company (155) (385)
Non-controlling interests SEFE R = (130) (325)
Revenue Wz 3,208 11,648
Impairment loss of property, plantand ¥ - E KR EREEE
equipment - (632)
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets (¥ A& EF(EEIE - (500)
Expenses X (2,783) (11,705)
Profit (Loss) for the year FRmEA (E8) 425 (1,189)
Profit (Loss) attributable to owners of ~— ARAGEAR AFEMGEF (E1E)
the Company 230 (644)
Profit (Loss) attributable to the FEFERR R (A1) (E5 18 )
non-controlling interests 195 (545)
Profit (Loss) for the year and total FREAN (BB RFRET
comprehensive income (loss) for Wk (18 ) 45
the year 425 (1,189)
Net cash flow from operating activities 42 REPTEIR &R EFRE 434 1,962
Net cash flow from investing activities & & /ZBFTISIR SR E/F58 - -
Net cash flow used in financing activities B & RENPTHIR &R E 558 (582) (2,045)
Net cash outflow e ML F5E (148) (83)
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 29. B ARFE @)
Success Reach BRRE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Current assets MEEE - 3,245
Non-current assets EMBEE - 4,495
Current liabilities mENAE - (17,675)
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE = (1,419)
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE AEL R
the Company - (5,791)
Non-controlling interests JEFE R e = (5,562)
Revenue Wiz 3,841 /,323
Other income HEaA 11,240 -
Impairment loss of property, plant VI - B R E R EEE
and equipment - (803)
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets  {# & ERERE - (331)
Expenses FIsZ (4,861) (10,687)
Profit (Loss) for the period up to disposal B Z & HEHi | FHAR,
date/year FARmN(EE) 10,220 (4,498)
Profit (Loss) attributable to owners of  AAGEA AFEMGEF (E1E)
the Company 5,213 (2,295)
Profit (Loss) attributable to the SRR A PR A (B 1R)
non-controlling interests 5,007 (2,203)
Profit (Loss) for the period up to disposal B Z & HE | FHIR, R
date/year and total comprehensive wA (BB REEHE
income (loss) for the period up to HEALEAAR, RS E
disposal date/year (E518) 4258 10,220 (4,498)
Net cash flow from operating activities 42 RBPTSIR &R EFRE 886 1,904
Net cash flow used in investing activities & REFTHIR &R EFRE - (14)
Net cash flow used in financing activities & EEPTHIR &R E 558 (1,262) (1,514)
Net cash (outflow) inflow BEOht)RAFER (376) 376
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities:

30. HEBRESHRERMET

(a)

ELXERMETHNEEY
iR
THRFINEEBREFHHAR
E.@F”@ BERE &I

e EEBREETHN
gff EREREE KL ARKIA
ERMENENAEEGEE T
MERDERELXBEREGD
MIRERE :

Amount due
to non- Interest-
controlling bearing Lease
interest  borrowings liabilities Total
iR

ERE iHEER HESE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T T

At 1 April 2022 R02F4A1A 107 - 8,946 9,053
Addition NE - - 4039 4039
Finance costs BB - 638 523 1,161
Interest payable TEfS 7S, - (367) - (367)
Covid-19 related rent concession RN RSEREEEN - - (155) (155)
Cash flows, net BerERE 1,855 4,729 (6,063) 521

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RNBFIA3NBR

20234718 1,962 5,000 7,290 14,252

Addition NE - - 4,474 4,474
Finance costs BB = 719 379 1,098
Interest payable FENH|E - 367 = 367
Gain on lease modification HEB = = (347) (347)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34(a)) HE—RHBA R (HE4() (1,548) - (1,622) (3,170)
Cash flows, net HeRERE 19 (6,086) (5,598) (11,665)
At 31 March 2024 142024537318 433 - 4,576 5,009
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30.

31.

32.

172

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Major non-cash transactions

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has
following major non-cash transactions:

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$4,574,000 (2023: approximately HK$4,039,000)
by incurring lease liabilities of approximately
HK$4,474,000 (2023: approximately HK$4,039,000)
and provision for reinstatement cost of HK$100,000
(2023: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme,
employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can
choose to make additional contributions. Employers
monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of the
employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). Employees
are entitled to 100% of the employer’'s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death
or total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable to the funds by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was conditionally
adopted by the resolutions in writing of all the
shareholders passed on 20 January 2017 (the “Share
Option Scheme"). Details of the Share Option Scheme are
set out in appendix IV of the document in the Company's
announcement dated 24 October 2016.
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30.

31.

32.

RERTMEBRMEE )

(b) FEHFREXRS
B &R & B R R AL AL BF 0 BT I
BZEMIN  REBBENUTE
ZIFRER S -

HE2024F3R31HIEFE - KE
Bi% B E A TR E B H494,474,000
78 TL (2023 FF ¢ #94,039,000 %
T ) N H 48 E 18 B 7K 100,000 7
TL(2023F : E)EREAEER
/£ #94,574,00078 7T (20239 © #Y
4,039000/87T) °

EARERGE
REBRBEHEBAS M ABSETEIE
I —IBEREHAARFIMERTES
RINEFGTE([BESETE]) - RIE
BIESFTE  REARFEN AFH
5% sk F LR 1,5008 7T © HE IR
MEEBELREIMIR - BENTAH
RIEBBEE AFS% &= ER
#1,500/8 Tat E ([EHIHRK]) - &
BIEGSHIRIK « B TR BATIE
BENE ARHEREEAEELZ
SR ISR o

RIBmINRA BB A S ELRRIK
18 MIaT Bl e A R EIRET &R ART
AL RMES T B -

B AER S
RAEIMERERT SR BRER
2017 F1 A0 BREERZ A IF
R ([ RERT 8l ]) - BEIERTE
MRS EN AR B H B 2201610 A
248 7 N ER ISR o
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 32. BREREI(®)
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no H 2 2024F M 2023F3A31H IEF
option has been granted or agreed to be granted under B BEREERETERLXEE
the Share Option Scheme. BHERE -
Movements of the Company’s share options during the HE2024F X 2023F3HA31HIEF
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as follow: € - ARRRIBREZ ZBERAT
Number of
share options Number of
Number of forfeited share
Exercise share during the options at
price per Exercisable optionsat  year ended 31 March
Category of the Grantees share option  Date of grant  period 1 April 2022 31 March 2023 2023 and 2024
HE20235F 120235 R
R2022% 3ANALEE 2024
ShlERE 4818 RUzBRE 383102
DEEBEAER 188 RHEH AT ZBREHE %A BREHA
HK$
B
(Note (a) (Note (a))
(Ft&E(a) (iat(a))
DIRECTORS
2
Mr. Chow Yik 395 10January 2022 10 January 2022 to 224,454 - 224,454
9 January 2032
Al 022517108 20251A108%
203251 A9H
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak 395 10January 2022 10 January 2022 to 224,454 - 224,454
9 January 2032
ey 022F1A108  202251A108%
203251 A9H
Ms. Ho Oi Kwan (Note (b)) 395 10January 2022 10 January 2022 to 224,454 (224,454) -
9 January 2032
AEHLL(HEEb) 02518108 202F1A108%
203251 A9H
Total 673,362 (224,454) 448,908
st
Exercisable at the end of the year 448,908
RERATH
Weighted average exercise price (Note (a)) HK$3.95
MEFITEE (W) 39587
Notes: Bz -
(@)  The number of share options and weighted average exercise price (a) PERRFESIE RNETHITEEE AR
have been adjusted to reflect the effect of rights issue during REE 20243 A31 B IEFEERHAR
the year ended 31 March 2024 as set out in Notes 26(d) to the (4R A BT TS SR 3R Mt 53X 26(d) P ) #9572
consolidation financial statements. &,
(b) 224,454 share options have been forfeited upon the resignation of (b) AAIEBLZ 2023128208 BHEA

Ms. Ho Oi Kwan as the director of the Company on 20 December
2023.

RAERIRZU224, 45010 FERHE -
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33.

174

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Details of the Group's investment in a joint venture at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

3BV RA—EEELE S

AEERRERRN—HEEEEL
BREFHBWT

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT

Unlisted shares, at cost

eI UIE 12 B 18

Share of post-acquisition losses

FEEMRRAD - AR

Interest in a joint venture represents investment in =M e
HREMAR AR (Zhangzhou Jintian Food Co., Limited*)
("Jintian”), a former non-wholly owned subsidiary of
which 51% equity interest was owned by the Group and
remaining equity interest of 49% was owned by Mr. Sun
Guangping (“Mr. Sun”). Jintian is principally engaged in
manufacture and sales of frozen aquatic products in the
PRC.

On 12 November 2021, Mr. Sun executed a deed of
undertaking (the “Deed”) in favour of the Group and
Jintian, pursuant to which Mr. Sun (i) agrees to guarantee
the performance of Jintian with respect to all the existing
and future debts owed by Jintian without collateral; (i)
agrees to provide guarantee(s) to any creditor(s) of the
existing debts of Jintian and any future debt(s) of Jintian
and undertake to provide the same when it is required
from any creditor; and (iii) agrees that the Group is not
required to provide any corporate guarantee and any
collateral to such creditor(s) (the “Undertakings”).

Given the Undertakings provided by Mr. Sun, Mr. Sun
required the mutual control rights of Jintian and all
decisions of Jintian relating to the strategic financial and
operating decisions of any economic activity shall be made
by all the equity-holders unanimously with no change of
shareholdings in Jintian.
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33. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Pursuant to a mutual control agreement signed on 12
November 2021, all decisions of Jintian relating to business
operations require unanimous consent from all the equity
holders with no change of shareholdings, which resulting
in a loss of control of Jintian by the Group. Accordingly,
with effect from 12 November 2021, Jintian ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Group and the investment in Jintian was
reclassified as interest in a joint venture, which is jointly
controlled by the Group and Mr. Sun by virtue of the
contractual arrangement amongst equity holders.

Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of Jintian were
deconsolidated from the Group's consolidated statement
of financial position for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
the interests in Jintian have been accounted for as a joint
venture using equity method since then. The fair value of
the 51% equity interests in Jintian at the date on which
the control was lost is regarded was determined to be Nil
based on the proportion of the Group's equity interest in
net liabilities of Jintian as the cost on initial recognition of
the investment in Jintian as a joint venture.

On 28 March 2024, the interest in joint venture was
derecognised through disposal of its holding companies
as set out in Note 34(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the joint
venture is not material to the Group for the period from
1 April 2023 to 28 March 2024 (the date of derecognition)
and for the year ended 31 March 2023 and no disclosure of
its financial information was considered necessary.

* English name is for identification purpose only.

3. A— RIS E R (B

BER2021F 11 A12BEENHEE
THltEk c SHEAEEBEBEED
RTEBLHFIAREFEA—BERE
BRRESIESE)  SERAKELE
HeHEMEHE - Bt - @BTHEA
REBNBAR  MRESHEMEE
EWEFIBEARN —HEELEIE
W RAELERAEBRRELER
BRERFE AZENE LRI
Hl - B2021F 11 B12BAER -

Eitt - BE2022F3A31HILFE -
CHNEEMABBETHERAER Y
RAVBHRARAHAR gt ®
THAERCRERSEARE—ME
BE - DHS1%EZ A FERK
EIEFIEE AR ERASER & H
BEFEMNERLLOET T AR
RREHMRE B —EAEETENRK
Z’Ko

R2024F3 8280 » WiRABEHRE
BIaE34) sl - A& X ERR
B EHIEAR A RIM AR I FER -

RNARIESRAE - B2023F4H1BE
2024F3 A28 (4% IE#ER A BY) HAfA
MEZE2023F3A31MHILFE 4%
TCEHAEBITEEREVHEER
MIEBET T RABUE -
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34. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

176

(a)

On 1 February 2024, the Group disposed of its 51%
equity interests in Success Reach to an independent
third party (the “Purchaser”) at a cash consideration
of HK$1,200,000 in accordance with the share transfer
agreement dated 16 November 2023 (the “Major
Disposal”). The consideration was determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the Group and the
Purchaser with reference to (i) the financial information
of Success Reach; (ii) the market brand and position
of the restaurant operated by the Success Reach,
being a high-end modern Japanese izakaya located
in Central, representing one of the most prime
districts in Hong Kong; (iii) the robust growth of the
catering industry and the gradual economic recovery
from the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in
Hong Kong; (iv) the opportunities forgone by the
Group for not operating Japanese izakaya under the
brand name of “Shio” in Hong Kong for a period of
five years after completion of the disposal; and (v)
the business prospect of Success Reach. The Major
Disposal constitutes a major transaction for the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. Details of
the Major Disposal were set out in the Company'’s
announcements dated 16 November 2023 and 7
December 2023, and the Company'’s circular dated 11
January 2024.
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34. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. HEMBATRZWE (&)
(Continued)
(@) (Continued) @@ (&)
Details of the consideration received for the Major REEBRHNEKREELESE
Disposal and net liabilities of Success Reach at the HWREBHFBEMEKEZAE
date of disposal are summarised as follows: FRE T
HK$'000

FAT
Consideration received, satisfied by: EWRE AATFTERXXMT:
Cash received IR & 1,200
Net liabilities disposed of: HENEEFRE
Property, plant and equipment M - B MR 1,441
Right-of-use assets EREEE 588
Trade and other receivables B 5 NCHE MW RIA 414
Cash and bank balances W& RRITHE 74
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMERFKRIA (478)
Amount due to non-controlling interests FE FEIE AR 2 5K IE (1,548)
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,622)
Net liabilities at the date of disposal REERMzAERE (1,131)
Non-controlling interests eV A S 555
Consideration KE (1,200)
Gain on disposal of Success Reach HE R BE 2 2 (1,776)
Net cash inflows from the Major Disposal REFEHEFTEZREERA

R

Consideration received BURE 1,200
Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of B HERE RIRITER (74)

1,126
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34. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

(b) On 28 March 2024, the Group disposed of its
100% equity interests in Smart Sino together with
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Kant Supply Chain
which mainly owns interest in joint venture, Jintian
(collectively referred to as “Smart Sino Group”) to
an independent third party at a cash consideration of
HK$100,000 (the “JV Disposal”).

Details of the consideration received for the JV
Disposal and net assets of Smart Sino Group at the
date of disposal are summarised as follows:

34. HEKMB ARz WS (&)

(b)

MN2024%3F28H - AEB AR
% & 100,000 JT A — B &L
Fo-HEEHEREEERAZS
&8 N B FR{E AL FE #2 79 100%
Wik REfEREIERE
AELCELH(LEIBESE
o= ([ HEEERE]) -

REEBHHEREEAED
ENREBEREEEE CEEF
ELERIR N

178

HK$'000
FAT
Consideration received, satisfied by: EWRE AATFTAERXXMT:
Cash received 2R € 100
Net assets disposed of: HENEEFE
Interest in a joint venture NEERENER -
Prepayment BRI 55
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTHERR 45
Accruals and other payables JEET & A M H At FE < 518 (10)
Net assets at the date of disposal REERMZEERE 90
Release of exchange reserve AR IE 5 (87)
Consideration RE (100)
Gain on disposal of Smart Sino Group HEREEE 2 W (97)
Net cash inflows from the JV Disposal REHESELEZ
BRERANFE
Consideration received BURE 100
Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of B HERE RIRITER (45)
55
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M| RME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #, 2202438318 I EE

35.

36.

37.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EXREE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Contracted but not provided net of ERTAME R - HIBRBULES
deposits paid for acquisition of VI - BRI R
property, plant and equipment e 4,200 -
DIVIDENDS 36. BE

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has following significant events
after the reporting period:

On 29 April 2024, the Group entered into a provisional
tenancy agreement with an independent third party in
respect of the lease of a premise located in Hong Kong
for three years from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2027 with an
option to renew for a further three years at monthly rent
of HK$150,000 to open a new restaurant. Accordingly,
the Group expected to recognise right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$5 million by incurring lease liabilities of
approximately HK$5 million on initial recognition of lease
in the Group's consolidated financial statements during
the year ending 31 March 2025. Details of which are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 29 April 2024 and
9 May 2024.

37.

NABEETEZIKNEE2024F &
2023F3A31H IEFEAEMEE ©

BEHERER

Srér e M mREAME D FAREE
Oh - REBERRERRBAUTEARS
18

R2024F4 8298 » AEEHE—F
BYE=FRHEENREEN—E
YRR E W - 820247
A1H#BZE2027F6A30H A=
FOAREEBE—HSEHE=-F AHM
#150,0008 7T - ARHAR —FHE
EE o It - ANEBETEARE E2025F
AN BILFEUARAEBNELGE B
BHErANBAERAHEELHNESRE
HSEBELHN I ANEREAEEE
HSEBETT - HFBEHENARR B
A2024F 4 298 K 2024F5 A9H Y

NI
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Summary of Financial Information

MBERBME

The following is a summary of the published results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years:

DA 7 8 L B T MBI B2 #0 E FIB
SR AERAERE

Years ended 31 March

BZ3A31ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 2023F 20224 20214 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAT FTAT FAT FAHT
Results E4
Revenue from continuing SRS R W
operations 25,365 30,040 27,302 12,634 43,024
Loss before tax from continuing 138 & %7 v BRBiAT
operations EiE (19,393) (24,975) (33,141) (10,195) (32,883)
Income tax expense FrigHifx - - - (1) -
Loss from a discontinued B HRE R B1E
operation - - (35,374) - -
Loss for the year FRER (19,393) (24,975) (68,515) (10,306) (32,883)
(Loss) Profit for the year UTRERGEFR
attributable to: (&518) &R
Owners of the Company V/NGIEZ=DN (24,595) (22,227) (40,299) (9,940) (32,883)
Non-controlling interests IS 5,202 (2,748) (28,216) (366) -
(19,393) (24,975) (68,515) (10,306) (32,883)
At 31 March
M3A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20235 20224 20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT FAT TAET FTAT
Total assets BEE 20,591 21,359 36,733 37,284 48,322
Total liabilities BaeE (12,839) (23,650) (17,052) (11,075) (20,758)
Net assets (liabilities) EE(BR)RE 7,752 (2,291) 19,681 26,209 27,564
Equity attributable to: AT &IERE(GHER
Owners of the Company KAEIER A 7,882 3,596 22,820 24,375 27,564
Non-controlling interests FEFE A M A (130) (5,887) (3,139) 1,834 -
Total equity (deficits) RS (Eut) Az 7,752 (2,291) 19,681 26,209 27,564
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